# THE INTERSECTIONAL EXPERIENCES OF INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION AMONG MUSLIM WOMEN IN FINNISH LABOUR MARKET



Fath E Mubeen 268348 University of Eastern Finland Department of Social Sciences Master's thesis 15.10.2019

**Author:** Fath E Mubeen **Student #:** 268348

Title of research: The Intersectional Perspective of Inclusion and Exclusion

Among Muslim Women in Finnish Labour Market **Faculty:** Social Sciences and Business Studies

Subject: Border Crossings Master's Degree Programme – Sociology/Social and

Public Policy

Supervisors: Tiina Sotkasiira and Nina Tokola

Work: Master's thesis **Time:** October 2019

#### **Abstract**

#### UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND

Faculty		Unit	
Faculty of Social Sciences and Business Studies		<b>Department of Social Sciences</b>	
Author			
Fath E Mubeen			
N. Cd El :			
Trustic of the Theolo	VDEDIENCES OF INC	LUCION AND EVO	LICION AMONO
THE INTERSECTIONAL E			LUSION AMONG
Name of the Thesis THE INTERSECTIONAL E MUSLIM WOMEN IN FINE			LUSION AMONG
THE INTERSECTIONAL E			LUSION AMONG
THE INTERSECTIONAL E MUSLIM WOMEN IN FINE			LUSION AMONG Pages
THE INTERSECTIONAL E MUSLIM WOMEN IN FINE Major Sociology / Social and	NISH LABOUR MARKI	ET	
THE INTERSECTIONAL E MUSLIM WOMEN IN FINE Major Sociology / Social and Public Policy	Description	ET Date	Pages
THE INTERSECTIONAL E MUSLIM WOMEN IN FINE Major Sociology / Social and Public Policy	Description	ET Date	Pages
THE INTERSECTIONAL E	Description	ET Date	Pages
THE INTERSECTIONAL E MUSLIM WOMEN IN FINE Major Sociology / Social and Public Policy BORDER CROSSINGS	Description	ET Date	Pages

My research examines Muslim women's experiences of inclusion and exclusion in Finnish labour market. The research has been conducted in three populated cities of Finland, Helsinki, Jyväskylä and Turku. The overall aim of the study is to provide an in-depth understanding of the experiences of inclusion, exclusion and discrimination that Muslim women face in their day to day working life. Therefore, I ask the following questions: (a) How do Muslim women narrate their experiences of inclusion and exclusion at Finnish labour market? And (b) What are the factors that help to explain Muslim women's experiences of discrimination in Finnish labour market? Drawing upon the qualitative research methods, and utilizing an in-depth interviewing technique, this study puts in use the intersectional framework to explore the overlapping and concurrent factors, such as gender, ethnicity, religion and religious expressions, that affect the working aptitudes of these women. The results of the content analysis indicate that the Muslim women, who were interviewed for the study, continuously experience the myriad of issues and barriers in Finnish workplaces. These experiences include, such as being continuously questioned about the use of hijab and perceived as terrorists, ethnically incompetent, deficient of language skills and lack agency.

Key words: Muslim women, Labour Market, Intersectionality, Inclusion and Exclusion, Agency, Discrimination

#### **Table of Contents**

Abst	tract	iii
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	THEORATICAL FRAMEWORK: INTERSECTIONAL ANALYSIS OF THE INCLUSION OF SLIM WOMEN IN LABOUR MARKET	6
2.2	1 SOCIAL INCLUSION AND INCLUSIVE LABOUR MARKET	6
2.2	2 THE INCLUSION OF MUSLIMS IN THE LABOUR MARKET	
2.3	3 INCLUSION OF MUSLIM WOMEN IN LABOUR MARKET	16
2.4	4 INTERSECTIONAL ANALYSIS OF LABOUR MARKET INCLUSION	21
3.	RESEARCH DATA AND METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	25
3.2	1 DATA COLLECTION AND METHODS OF STUDY	26
3.3	3 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	30
	EXPERIENCES OF INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION OF MUSLIM WOMEN IN FINNISH LABORET	
4.	1 MUSLIM WOMEN'S PERCEPTIONS AND EXPERIENCES OF EXCLUSION AND DISCRIMINATION	33
4.2	2 PREJUDICES AGAINST MUSLIMS AND THE ROLE OF MEDIA	39
4.3	3 UNDERVALUING THE HUMAN CAPITAL OF MUSLIM WOMEN	42
4.4	4 THE EFFECT OF LANGUAGE DEFICIENY ON MUSLIM WOMEN	46
4.5	5 THE SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	48
5.	CONCLUSION	55
BIBI	LIOGRAPHY	58
Appe	endices	72
Αp	opendix A	72
Αp	opendix B	73
۸ ۵	nnandiy C	74

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

In 2017, two Muslim women in Belgium and France were fired because of their headscarves violated the company's policy against "visible signs of political, philosophical or religious beliefs" and "the need for neutrality as regards its customers" (Brunsden, Robinson & McClean, 2017, para. 3). In both of the cases the Court of Justice of the European Union upheld the bans on headscarves and permitted the companies to 'hire or fire' women if they deny stripping off their religious expressions, including hijab (CJEU, 2017). This incident is the advent and starting point of my research. While the phenomenon of inclusion of ethnic and religious minorities in the labour force is highly debated and discussed in the rest of the Europe, and discrimination is identified as one of the key issues affecting the inclusion of Muslim women in European societies, there is an evident lack of research on the experiences of Muslims and particularly Muslim women in Finland. Therefore, my research interests and this study go deep into the topic to explore the experiences of Muslim women in Finnish labor market, and whether discrimination is an issue here or not. Accordingly, this experience-based research aims to capture the unique narratives of a group of Muslim women, and the individual ways in which they experience inclusion, and exclusion, in Finnish labour market. Furthermore, my research focuses on illuminating the factors that are helpful in determining and explaining the Muslim women's experiences of inclusion and exclusion in Finnish labour market.

For more than two decades, the inclusion of migrants in the labour market has been a contested debate in Finland. Ethnic minorities from various cultures have been residing in Finland since independence in 1917 and even before that when Finland was part of the Russian Empire (Daher, Hannikainen & Heikinheimo-Pérez, 2016). However, Finland is one of those European countries that have experienced immigration on a larger scale recently in comparison. With the numbers of migrants increasing, the need for labour market integration has become acute. As a result, the foremost agenda of Finnish integration policy is to engage newcomers into society, particularly into the labour market as soon as possible. The popular argument is that integration through work will limit social exclusion and bring freedom, equality and a higher position in society as well as inculcating a feeling of being valued (Kroll, Similä, Salmenhaara & Blomberg, 2008).

Despite all of regulations and policies to ensure equality and inclusivity, in reality, foreign nationals have a record number of lower employment rates compared to native Finns (Ministry of the Interior, 2016-17). The unemployment rate between Finnish and foreigners is high with a difference of 13.8% (Karlsdóttir, Norlén, Rispling & Randall, 2018). On the other hand, for migrant women, the contrast is even starker with an average of 17% lower employment compared to the Finnish women (Karlsdóttir, Norlén, Rispling & Randall, 2018). Women belonging to ethnic minority groups are significantly placed in low-paid and under-skilled jobs (Myrskylä & Pyykkönen, 2014) regardless of their educational background and they are usually defined as unskilled and unqualified (Kirkup, 2015). For instance, 17% of all women with foreign background in Finland work in cleaning industry and 14 % in industrial and construction sectors (Myrskylä & Pyykkönen, 2014; Mutuku, 2017). Moreover, migrants tend to become entrepreneurs more often than Finns (Myrskylä & Pyykkönen, 2014). Habti and Korhonen (2014), suggested that this may be due to the lack of adequate language skills and non-recognition of their previous education and professional experience.

There is no doubt that female inclusion in the labour market has been proven a central feature for enhancing gender equality specifically in the education sector to increase human capital (Mitra, Bang, & Biswas, 2015). Whereas, lack of female participation in the labour market significantly hinders economic development of the country as a whole (Klasen & Lamanna, 2009; Mitra, Bang & Biswas, 2015). Finland in this regard, is admired for its gender-equal and women-friendly culture, encouraging the inclusion of women in the public sphere and their ability to conglomerate work and family (Saarinen & Jäppinen, 2014). Although, gender inequality has been decreasing over time, the gap between women participation in the labour market have notoriously and persistently remained consistent in Europe as well as in Finland (Hänninen, 2018; Klasen & Lamanna, 2009). Women in the labour market are profoundly disadvantaged as compared to men (ILO, 2016). The reason for this disparity might be due to the general perceptions of gender roles as well as difficulty in accessing finances, training and networking and in maintaining a family life (Kantor, 2009). In addition to lower participation rates, women are also disadvantaged in the types of employments they participate. A large number of women are employed in temporary, part-time and low paid occupations (OECD, 2018 & ILO, 2016). Simultaneously, with regard to ethnicity

and religion, labour market participation, opportunities and the performances of women have been largely discouraging (Habti, 2014; OECD, 2018; ILO, 2016).

The high rates of unemployment amongst migrant women in Finland have captured large political attention in recent years. As the multicultural population is rapidly increasing, with the number of Muslim populations also being in increase, the issue of the under-representation of Muslim women in Finnish labour market is emerging in the debate and arguably affecting the notion of the equality, which is understood as the core value of Finnish society (Järvinen, Pajunen, Saarinen & Sironen, 2018). In particular, there is concern regarding migrant women who have migrated from Asia, Africa and Middle Eastern countries, and these women also tend to be, or they are perceived to be, Muslim. As a result, Muslim women have been continuously under-represented and they face difficulties in accessing Finnish labour market (Saarinen & Jäppinen, 2014).

In addition to above discussion, the problematized image of Muslim women has been dominant in political and public discourses in European countries. Muslim women are considered incompatible with the Western values of social justice, gender equality and women empowerment (Sakaranaho, 2008). Such a stereotypical interpretation of Muslim women utterly overlooks the agency of these women who consider their religious identity and religion inspired choices as a proficient instrument for agency (Ghanem, 2017). This dimension of discrimination decreases women's possibilities of inclusion in the labour market (Makkonen, 2002).

In the wake of 9/11, Islamophobia has become a crucial parameter in outlining the experiences of Muslim women in labour market in western societies which Muslim men and women encounter discrimination uniquely (Jahedi, Abdullah & Mukundan, 2015). Abdullahi (2016) expressed that Islamophobia or Islamophobic occurrences affect men and women differently (Hopkins, 2016) and the other groups who can be potentially discriminated because of their gender identity. Abu-Ras and Saurez (2009), indicate that post 9/11, Muslim women were reported more likely to be victimized or faced discrimination compared to men and expressed high frequency of anxiety and exclusion. Muslims women repeatedly become comparable to religious attributes which are associated to their appearances and its functions (Sakaranaho, 2008; Lehtovaara, 2017). Moreover, it is determined that Muslim women are dealt with even more critically and unfavorably and

exposed to higher experiences of discriminative attitudes which often occur in the domain of the labour market (Abdullahi, 2016).

Along with the intersection of gender and religion, Muslim women in Finland are also penalized on the matter of visibility, as bearing further, the choice of wearing hijab, niqab or any form of veil (Habti & Korhonen, 2014; Saarinen & Jäppinen, 2014). These are imperative in determining their life and labour market experiences, particularly with the increasing wave of Islamophobia (Meer & Modood, 2011, 2009; Rana, 2007; Gottschalk & Greenberg, 2008).

Although researchers have been working on the agenda to bring to light the issues and barriers related to Muslim women and employment, but in the Finnish context, experiences of Muslim women in labour market are scarcely researched. Many aspects are still under-explored, particularly, how Muslim women are understood and tackled in organizational approaches and how the general perceptions about Muslims prevent or reduce the ability of inclusion in labour market (Tariq & Syed, 2018). Furthermore, It is also essential to understand that labour market experiences of Muslim women cannot be defined only through the traditional gender framework or by the typical human capital model because these women are not only contesting masculine powers for jobs and wages, but also their human capital is not considered equal or similar to Finnish-born women (Steel & Jyrkinen, 2017; Miaari, Khattab, & Johnston, 2018).

My research, in this regard, is an attempt to highlight the Muslim women agency. By agency, I mean, the capacity to make choices and take control within the structure in which one's life take place and bring into the debate a point that is missing: the perspectives of Muslim women themselves. My work explores how Muslim women, who are employed, perceive their position in the Finnish labour market and what factors affect during employment as well as during job seeking experiences in Finnish labour market. It is important to mention that initially I started the study with the intension of exploring the experiences of inclusion of Muslim women in Finnish labour market. However, as the research advanced and I started interviewing Muslim women, I noticed that women were sharing the narratives of discrimination and exclusion more often. Therefore, my research has a unique value and by focusing on the interview data, my thesis will provide depth

into the discussion on the labour market experiences of discrimination of Muslim women in Finland.

As my research emphases on Muslim women's experiences of inclusion and exclusion in Finnish labour market. My key questions in this study are therefore: How do Muslim women narrate their experiences of inclusion and exclusion at Finnish labour market? And what are the factors that help to explain Muslim women's experiences of discrimination in Finnish labour market?

Using the qualitative research, my study will attempt to discover the empirical factors that regulate the exclusionary practices of Muslim women in Finnish labour market. Intersectional framework will help to detangle the interwoven elements of Muslim women identity such as gender, ethnicity, religion that function altogether as force to determine their experiences in Finnish labour market. The research data is comprised of in-depth interviews, and content analysis will be used to analyze the results.

This research has been divided into four sections. Chapter one describes the objectives of my research. Chapter two sheds a thorough light over the extant literature by previous scholars and defines the challenging factors which barricade the inclusion of Muslim women in the labour market. Chapter three addresses the methodological pathway of my research. It describes how Muslim women in Finland were recruited and interviewed. Moreover, how the analysis of the collected data was conducted. Chapter four analyses the stories and experiences of Muslim women working in the Finnish labour market. It provides the in-depth evaluation by highlighting the key factors of their low participation in Finnish labour market and illume the correlation between the gender, ethnicity and religion that develop possibility of discrimination which results in high levels of inactivity for Muslim women in Finnish labour market. Lastly, chapter five summarizes a conclusive discussion of the research and provides recommendations on areas which have room for improvement.

## 2. THEORATICAL FRAMEWORK: INTERSECTIONAL ANALYSIS OF THE INCLUSION OF MUSLIM WOMEN IN LABOUR MARKET

This chapter establishes the theoretical framework of my study and explores the connection between social inclusion and labour market outcomes of Muslim women. By establishing necessity of social inclusion, this section will further explain the ways in which different factors, such as hijab, Islamophobia and language, work together as a force to implement exclusionary practices and experiences of discrimination during employment and while accessing labour market.

#### 2.1 SOCIAL INCLUSION AND INCLUSIVE LABOUR MARKET

The term 'inclusion' has been excessively heard in the current globalized world in multiple distinct contexts. In social sciences the concept of 'inclusion' is defined as a process which determines the efforts that ensure equal opportunities to everyone regardless of their race, gender, sexuality, religion or intellectuality (Abrams & Marques, 2004). This multi-dimensional process specifically aims to generate circumstances which tolerate active involvement by all members of the society in entire facets of life, inclusive of social, economic and political activities (Dominelli, 2002). Inclusion is also referred as a process to combat poverty and social exclusion of the marginalized groups by empowering them to enjoy equal opportunities to education, markets, employment, recreation and civic management (Abrams, 2004; Dominelli, 2002).

Glancing back through history, the term 'inclusion' links back to the case of Rosa Parks (History, 2009). In 1955, Rosa Parks (1913-2005) stood against the existing disparity in deliverance of equal rights to people of colour. She aspired to be included in a society in maximum capacity which was denied at the times to the people labeled as 'black'. She allegedly sat down in a bus in the 'white' people reserved section and denied eviction. Later, she was arrested for her crime for desiring 'inclusion' (History, 2009). Her particular gesture was a loud outcry against the long history of exclusion which changed the course of history by standing up for 'inclusion'.

Another powerful cry for 'inclusion' can be heard in modern times. This cry is being raised by the people who are evidently and constantly being ignored or denied the chance to participate in society in full manner. These are people who are vulnerable and marginalized based on their diverse identities. Many reformations and regulations have been put in place in order to refine and define the 'inclusion' which heeds towards the dispersion of equitable standards for all participants of society irrespective of their race, ethnicity, gender, religion, sexuality or political status (Cuthill, 2010; Dujon, Dillard & Brennan, 2013). In other words, the generally accepted version of 'inclusion' can be predicted as the function that invites those who have been locked out to 'comein' or inclusion of those who have been excluded from mainstream institutions such as social, economic and political systems (Abrams, 2004).

In this new era of globalization, we notice a growing interest of both politics and academics in the social aspects of inclusion and analyzing its conceptual applications at multi-levels and in various contexts. It is understood that social sustainability is highly dependent on inclusion at specifically three levels i.e., environmental, social and economic. The social dimension appears the most ambiguous and largely less concentrated domain (Cuthill, 2010; Dujon, Dillard & Brennan, 2013) Kunz 2006; Littig & Griessler, 2005). However, social inclusion is fundamental as we strive to elevate the human conditions within the context of reformative and economic systems (Boström, 2012; McKenzie, 2004). As suggested at World Economic Forum (2016, p. 1), "Inclusiveness and economic growth are not mutually exclusive but a complement of one another". The economic recession that quaked the world economy, which also affected Finland, proves the crucial interconnection between the social inclusion and economic stability (Laitamäki & Järvinen, 2013; Dujon, Dillard & Brennan, 2011).

A vision of an inclusive society is an idea of a 'society for all' in which all stakeholder of the society has full rights and responsibilities to play an active role (Dugarova, 2014). Exclusion on the contrary, usually form economic exclusion which results into inactive labour market participation and inadequate income and inculcate economic poverty (Dugarova, 2014). Furthermore, economic exclusion also prevents individuals or social groups to utilize their full capabilities to participate in society, due to the range of economic, political and social factors such as culture, religion and gender (UNRISD, 2014).

Though social inclusion has been researched in many diverse contexts, this research work will emphasize the processes and outcomes of economic activities related to social inclusion. Abrams et al. (2004, p. 13) express: "Social inclusion embodies the opportunity, and resources necessary, to participate in economic, social, and cultural activities that are considered the social norms as individuals, communities or societies respond to environmental, economic, and social change". Social inclusion programs and policies developed by multiple groups such as governments, nongovernment, businesses and private enterprises lack inclusive participation which retards the effectiveness of all those so-called initiatives (Dujon, Dillard & Brennan, 2013). Sen (1999, 2009) argues that the core purpose to develop inclusive policies, programs or initiatives should concentrate on providing opportunities to the people who can enhance their capabilities to recognize and allow to do things as they value.

By recognizing the capabilities and values of individuals, communities or groups will articulate the opportunities to sustain well-being (Ling, Hanna & Dale, 2009). For economical sustainability to be effective and implemented, social inclusion is prerequisite. The less inclusivity in the design and implementation of inclusive processes and institutions, the less likely they are tending to achieve their objected goals and less likely to anticipate social justice (Sen, 1999; Bullard, Johnson & Torres, 2005). It is rudimentary to understand what and how inclusion is being comprehended by the diverse stakeholders of the society. Sen (1999, 2000) emphatically describes profound interlinkage between feelings of being included and potential outcomes, therefore, the necessity of social inclusion become acute to create a more sustainable society.

Catalyst (2016), a non-profit organization, reported significant evidence by analyzing the accounts of the employees from various organizations in different parts of the world. They concluded that feelings of inclusion are greatly comprehended if the environment is adherent of preserving the uniqueness i.e., recognizing their individuality, valuing their specific traits and contributions as well as give a sense of belongingness i.e., they are welcomed, valued as part of the community and accepted indistinctively as they choose to be (See Report). Simultaneously, Catalyst (2016) remarked that ignorance towards their unique qualities, values and attributes, creates a sense of dismissal and devaluation of their identities (See Report). These experiences of exclusion nurture the feelings of alienation and 'otherness' based on their differences, such as gender, ethnicity,

religion, sexuality, clothing or identity and further inculcate the adverse effects on overall productivity (Saharso, 2007).

Nugent et al. (2016) demonstrate that the experiences of inclusion and exclusion both coexist and do not occur in isolation (Nugent, Pollack & Travis, 2016). This is because the experiences of inclusion and exclusion often run side by side in daily life of people. In the employment sector, the experiences of inclusion are mostly invisible and more imperceptible whereas exclusionary behaviors are salient, recognizable and more vividly remembered (Leach, Butterwort, Strazdins, Rodgers, Broom & Olesen, 2010). This reflects the both complex and nebulous relationship between the inclusion and experiences of exclusion that purposively result into discrimination.

The concept of discrimination is another widely used term, which contains several different meanings in diverse social contexts. In a typical way the core of the discrimination can be characterized as defined by General Recommendation 18 of the UN Human Rights Committee (1989, para.7):

Discrimination refers to any distinction, exclusion, restriction or preference which is based on any ground such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status, and which has the purpose or effect of nullifying or impairing the recognition, enjoyment or exercise by all persons, on an equal footing, of all rights and freedoms.

To understand discrimination, it is essential to distinguish between direct, indirect and institutional discrimination. Direct discrimination indicates the circumstances under which a person directly become victim because of who you are (Willey, 2000). For instance, if an employer categorically refuses to employ a Muslim. Indirect discrimination, on the other hand, implies when a policy or reform is applied equally for everyone but has an excluding effect one group of people more than another (Ross, 2008). For example, the French law on secularity and conspicuous religious symbols, bans religious symbols in schools and public offices. According to a French sociologist, De Féo (2018) the effect of such laws is more disadvantageous to Muslim women compared to other religious cohorts. Last but not least, institutional discrimination is understood as the most

fitted type when discussing the experiences of discrimination in labour market because it denotes to the procedures and practices in an organization, institution, or a society which has been structured intentionally or unintentionally in a way that it produces discriminatory consequences (Makkonen, 2000).

Discrimination directed at racial and ethno-religious groups create significant disadvantages for them to access economic resources and effect their abilities to navigate their well-being (Dujon et al., 2011). Dujon, et al. (2010) claim that social inclusion will enhance more social and economic sustainable processes and a higher level of societal well-being. On contrary, racially biased and religiously prejudiced practices not only facilitate high levels of discrimination in the employment sector but also inculcate huge disparity between the economic stability of members of ethnoreligious groups and natives (Makkonen, 2000).

Racial and ethno-religious groups face double jeopardy both at distributive and processual levels (Cox & Blake, 1991). This is due to the fact that they are more likely to be poor and excluded from acquiring better education, employment opportunities and equal remunerated treatment based on their vulnerable status (Steel & Jyrkinen, 2017). Moreover, differential wage allocation and underemployment as well as low skilled jobs reduce the efficiency of a worker to produce, enhance and retain personal and organizational wellbeing (Grimshaw et al., 2011). These differences in job practice, job types and wages occur more often and most notably between men and women (Brah, 1993). Whereas, women from ethno-religious groups experience even more drastic imbalance (Brah, 1993). Inclusive labour market and employment requires fair treatment to all its stakeholders whereas discrimination to access employment, hiring, retention and work flexibilities result in adverse effects (Gangl, 2006; Olsen & Walby, 2004; Sen, 2009). To drive sustainable and inclusive outcomes, on the one hand, equal dispersion of resources and opportunities and at the same time, social inclusion and non-discrimination is rudimentary to practice full rights at all sectors of life, especially labour market (Dugarova, 2014).

The labour market is a conventional zone where those people who are seeking jobs and those who are offering jobs, interact and cooperate with each other. In other words, according to the European Anti-Poverty Network report (EAPN, 2017), the labour market can be addressed as an area where

people's demand and supply meet. Accordingly, inclusive labour market is an expression that allows and encourages all people to participate and offers a framework for their development at both private and public spheres (EAPN, 2017). In 2008 European Commission, recommended three comprehensive areas to reinforce inclusive strategies in order to implement an inclusive work force i.e., 'adequate income support, access to quality services and inclusive labour markets' (European Commission, 2008). The aim of the recommendations was to holistically support quality employment regardless of any visible markers of alienation, promote social participation and allow a dignified livelihood to those who are unable to work.

The third pillar of active inclusive strategy was 'Inclusive labour markets', which was aimed to include people from diverse backgrounds who were experiencing poverty and social and organizational exclusion based on their gender, nationality, race, religion or sexuality in Europe as well as including all actors of civil society organizations who represent them (EAPN, 2017). Järvinen et al. (2018) stated in the Poverty Watch Report Finland, that the labour markets become inclusive when every participant of a society can equally participates in paid work, particularly those who are vulnerable and belong to disadvantaged groups such as women and migrants. Evidently, women and migrants are two of the most disadvantaged groups and remain significantly unemployed and underemployed in many sectors and economies (Sironen & Järvinen, 2018).

One of the major elements of inclusive labour markets is diversity management. Diversity management points towards the presence of diverse workers and caution towards the potential adverse outcomes if not managed appropriately (Cox & Blake, 1991). Although many organizations are aware of the feasibility of diversity, they find it difficult to create an inclusive environment (Syed, 2015). This results in the formation of an atmosphere that is not accepting of the ways in which people feel valued and respected, nor does it allow equal access to opportunities and employment. (Jabbour, Gordono, Caldeira de Oliveira, Martinez & Battistelle, 2011). The most current restrictions on inclusive employment and diversity adherence are the discriminatory practices and processes (Miaari, et al. 2018).

#### 2.2 THE INCLUSION OF MUSLIMS IN THE LABOUR MARKET

For decades, Muslims' inclusion in the labour market has been a major and protracted issue in Western societies. Many studies have evidently concluded that the Muslim population encounters multiple problems regarding inclusion in the labour market both in national and cross-national contexts, especially in European nations (Khattab, 2009; Khattab & Modood, 2015; Adida, Laitin & Vafort, 2010; Heath, Rothon & Kilpi, 2008; Tubergen, Maas & Flap, 2004; Connor & Koenig, 2013 & 2015; Cheung, 2013). There is sufficient evidence that admits that Muslims in Finland are also socially, and economically depreciated community compared to other social cohorts (Sakaranaho, 2008; Habti &Korhonen, 2014; Steel & Jyrkinen, 2017).

The primary reason for the disparity between Muslims and inclusion in the employment sector can be explained through the notion of symbolic boundaries and social exclusion (Lindemann & Stolz, 2018). As such, Muslims may face social exclusion or in other words, societies where non-Muslims are a majority, either intentionally or unintentionally deny Muslims from getting employed (Lindemann & Stolz, 2018). This kind of social exclusion can be experienced as a result of religious characteristics that are apparently visible and create a symbolic boundary in the society (Lamont & Molnár, 2002).

Religion is identified as the prominent symbolic boundary in Western societies including Finland (Habti & Korhonen, 2014) and Islam is significantly and protuberantly different from the believed 'autochthonous culture' (Lindemann & Stolz, 2018). Heath and Martin (2012) have extensively scripted about the difficult 'identification problem' (differentiating between culture and religious expressions). This culture can be deduced from the stipulated policies, which include bans on the partial and full burqa in many European countries and, in the case of Switzerland, bans on building minarets. Such allegations reflect the vulnerability of being a Muslim in Europe and develop a medallion of 'otherness' (Habti & Korhonen, 2014; Lindemann & Stolz, 2014; Dahinden & Zittoun, 2013) resulting in what is referred as 'Muslim penalties' (Modood & Khattab 2015).

In fact, many scholars argue that there is no such thing as 'ethnic penalties' (Heath & Cheung, 2006) but what we witness is the proxy of 'Muslim penalties' which is the product of 'colour and

cultural racism' (Khattab, 2009; Modood, 2005). It is a probable fact that affiliation with a faith group which has visible and identifiable religious attributes, characteristics, or practices can shape their way of inclusion in the labour market. This disadvantage can be based on the prevalent prejudice and stereotypes about their faith and inculcate absence or little participation in the labour market. The coupled effect of these intersecting factors is identified by Khattab (2009) as a 'Muslim penalty'.

Undoubtedly, ethnic minorities face multiple penalties in Europe such as poverty, unemployment, underemployment, lower wages and minimal social relations but religious penalties for Muslims are evidently greater, resulting in a double disadvantage based on both ethnicity and religion (Ghaffar & Lama, 2014; Lovat, Nilan, Hosseini, Samarayi, Mansfield & Alexander, 2013). Furthermore, Mnguni (2011) noted that prejudice towards Muslims defines an embodiment of 'religious racism'. Therefore, anti-Muslim attitudes, cultural racism, religion-based discrimination and negative stereotyping profoundly constrain Muslims' inclusion in the labour market and their engagement with the workforce (Habti & Korhonen, 2014; Lovat, Nilan, Hosseni, Samarayi, Mansfield, & Alexander, 2013).

The media occupies a pivotal position in a society today and seen as a major source of transferring information and ideas across the people (Manan, 2008). The negative coverage of Muslim presumably provokes islamophobia, mistrust and anxiety in social and public spheres whereas develop the feeling of alienation amongst Muslims (Baker et al., 2013). Muslims are constantly portrayed as violent, fanatical, bigoted and terrorist in media discourses (Jahedi, Abdullah & Mukundan, 2015). In addition, they are also depicted as a threat to liberal and democratic values as well as being irrational and antiquated (Ahmed & Matthes, 2016) which barricades employers to accept Muslims open-mindedly at workplaces. On the other hand, Muslims find themselves constantly in a state of conflict to prove themselves harmless and equivalently capable to perform as their counterparts (Sakaranaho, 2008; & Baker et al., 2013).

In this context, Finnish media has also been significantly critical of Islam and Muslims in recent years (International Religious Freedom Report Finland, 2018). Hostility against Muslims can be seen in political and mediatic discourses, for instance, some Finnish politicians have overtly made

negative statements against Muslims in social media and rejected the plan for building a mosque in Helsinki professing it as a risk of violent extremism and security threat to the country (International Religious Freedom Report Finland, 2018). Such illustrations designate Islam and Muslims as presumed threat to the democracy, culture and security of Finnish society. As a result, the continuous concurrence of the word 'extremist' and 'terrorist' with Muslims and Islam as a violence-prone religion carries an extremely negative narrative (Ahmed & Matthes, 2016) which creates an exclusionary environment for Muslims.

In relation to this, many studies have concluded that islamophobia does exist in many European countries including Finland (Habti & Korhonen, 2014; Helbling, 2008; Lindemann & Stolz, 2013). Baker et al. (2013), emphatically expressed that the mediatic representation of Islamophobia both explicitly and implicitly reduces the chances of Muslims inclusion in social and workplaces (Jahedi, Abdullah & Mukundan, 2015). Similarly, Muslims expressed that they felt discriminated based on their religion and religious expressions in the workplaces, especially and when acquiring employment (Lindemann & Stolz, 2018; Sakaranaho, 2008; Habti & Korhonen, 2014). Open Society Foundations (2018, p. 35) also reported the hostile attitude of the Finnish media towards Muslims:

Stereotypes and prejudice against Muslims are prevalent in Finnish national media, including TV shows and public posters. The main focus of public debates is radical Islamism, often linked to refugees. Even though Islamic clothing is rarely the center of debate, when it is discussed, it is often related to whether Muslim women are able to integrate into Finnish society.

Another reason for the higher rate of unemployment amongst Muslims can be associated with the religiosity mechanism (Lindemann & Stolz, 2018). Like in many other European states, there is a general stereotypical narrative in Finland towards Islam that portrays Islam as an extremist and violent religion which is clearly distant from the modern civilized culture of the society (Hyökki & Kreutz, 2017). Employers might assume that religious Muslims are significantly distant from their organizational culture and might harm the internal functioning as well as negatively affect the public, customers and markets (Habti & Korhonon, 2014; & Weichselbaumer, 2016). This is

largely because practicing and visibly identifiable Muslims through their appearances are often type-casted as 'fanatics' or generalized as terrorists (Behloul, Leuenberger, Tunger-Zanetti & Andreas, 2013; Aslan, Ebrahim & Hermansen, 2016).

Whereas, devout Muslims might perceive the workplace differently from other employees. For instance, it is essential for Muslims to perpetuate difference between the secular and the sacred as (Bouma, Haidar, Nyland & Smith, 2003). As such, fundamentally, any function should not disrupt the rudimentary Islamic ethics, such as modesty, fairmindedness, justice, mutual responsibility, or moralities. Moreover, devout Muslims are looked upon to adhere certain Islamic ethics such as prayers, fasting, pilgrimage, dressing and handshaking (Possamai, Richardson & Turner, 2015). Many employers perceive these characteristic nonadjacent to their organizational culture and reject those with Muslim backgrounds (Possamai, Richardson & Turner, 2015).

#### 2.2.1 Human Capital—A Marker of Inclusivity

Extant studies highlight that social and labour market exclusion can be a result of high demands of acculturation and assimilation into the host society i.e., linguistic competencies, cultural knowledge, job experience and high human capital (Portes & Zhou, 1993; Clark & Lindley, 2009). The educational capabilities, linguistic competencies, socio-economic characteristics and social networks of an individual are defined as human capital (Bourdieu, 1986). In many European states including Finland, the foremost reason for lower participation and over-qualification of migrants in labour market is considered the lack of human capital that has also been indicated by OECD (2018, p. 129) in following excerpt:

Over-qualification rates – the share of individuals working in low-skill occupations despite holding a high level of formal qualifications – are significantly higher in Finland among the foreign-born than they are among the native-born. Indeed, according to the UTH survey, over-qualification rates among foreign-born workers, at 36%, are double those among native-born workers. Among foreign-born women, close to two in every five workers are overqualified for the job they hold in Finland.

A study on underemployment of educated migrants in Finland has indicated towards a consistent pattern in employing migrants more as cleaners, taxi drivers, nannies or constructors than in professions which are compatible to their formal qualifications, while a sharp resistance is noticed in employing migrants with Muslim background (Platonova & Urso, 2012; Mutuku, 2017).

Muslim, in this regard, experience even more drastic disadvantage in accessing labour market. One of the prevalent understandings in European societies is that Muslims in general experience higher levels of exclusion from labour market because they lack human capital as well as social capital (Heath, Rothon & Kilpi, 2008). Recently, studies were conducted to shed light on the education and labour market outcomes of Muslim migrants in different European states including Finland (Komppula, 2018; Lindemann & Stolz, 2018; Mangal, 2018). A striking consistency and similarity were found in all studies that Muslims are the most disadvantaged group amongst all of the minorities and counter myriad of hindrances in accessing labour markets (OECD, 2018; Komppula, 2018; Lindemann & Stolz, 2018; Mangal, 2018). In this regard, labour market disadvantage means that many Muslims are in secondary labour market jobs such as temporary, low-paid employment and on-call jobs (Modood & Khattab, 2015). On the contrary, even being highly qualified, many Muslims face very low employment prospects (Lindemann & Stolz, 2018).

Therefore, in the face of the above-mentioned factors that overtly and covertly operate as barriers, and allegedly influenced and affectedly diluted the image of Muslims in Finnish society and substantially impacted the employment probabilities for Muslims in the labour market (Habti & Korhonen, 2014; Koskela, 2014; Khattab & Modood, 2009, 2015). Moreover, acknowledgement of human capital and underemployment customize the pace of an individual professional performance whether it is concerned with paid jobs or occupational accomplishment (Becker, 1994).

#### 2.3 INCLUSION OF MUSLIM WOMEN IN LABOUR MARKET

Finland is highly regarded as a society, which is based on social justice, gender equality and greatly emphasizes the inclusion of migrant women in the labour market (Saarinen & Jäppinen, 2014). However, extant studies profusely document the fact that migrant women find employment as a

prime challenge in the host countries (Mannila, Messing, Van Den Broek & Vidra 2010). Migrant women with Muslim background, on the other hand, face a double jeopardy on their employment prospects as additional to the gender identity, their religion and cultural orientation equally become the criteria for employers to evaluate their suitability and cost to the organizations (Koskela, 2014; Nagra, 2018; Miaari, Modood & Johnston, 2018; Abdullahi, 2016; Tariq & Hussein., 2018). As Nagra (2018) stated that Muslim women are more likely to be victim to occupational segregation and dually effected due to their disclosure to racist and sexist practices. As a result, the experiences of Muslim women in the workplace in western societies are highly segregated and encounter high levels of exclusion and discrimination in the workplaces (Khattab & Hussein, 2018; Nagra, 2018; Sakaranaho, 2008). A report published by the Women and Equalities Committee (2016-17) concluded that Muslim women are three times more likely to be unemployed compared to women in general. Similarly, Muslim women in Finland are found more likely to be victim of occupational segregation and triply troubled due to their exposure to racist and sexist processes i.e. visibility of race, sex and religion (Sakaranaho, 2008; Lehtovaara, 2017; Steel & Jyrkinen, 2017). The interlock of gender, race, and religion often become determinant at various levels and offer a multi-layered set of processes which result in discrimination for Muslim women (Syed & Pio, 2010).

Studies has found that one of the major derivatives of Muslim women exclusion from labour market is the rise of Islamophobic discourse (Syed & Pio, 2010; Koskela, 2014; Nagra, 2018; Miaari, Modood & Johnston, 2018; Abdullahi, 2016; Tariq & Hussein, 2018). The non-favorable consequences for Muslim women's employment experiences are pre-determined by religious and 'Islamophobic' stereotypes (i.e., hostility towards Islam) in western states (Kamenou & Fearfull, 2006). For example, in Britain, Islamophobia is a prime factor for women of Muslim background to be "frequently excluded from the economic, social and public life and frequent victims of discrimination and harassment" (Harvey, 2005, p. 209). Similar accounts have been recorded from Muslim women in countries such as Australia, the US and Canada; that Muslim women employment experiences are consistently negative.

Moreover, Muslim women experience exclusion as their religious expressions such as dress choices may also play an important part in affecting their opportunities and positions in the labour market (Miaari et al., 2018; Mighty, 1997). The choice to wear hijab across particular spaces is

taken as central force for many discriminating practices in the workplace (Steel & Jyrkinen, 2017) and barricades inclusive labour market agenda i.e., encouraging and allowing people from all walks of life irrespective of their gender, race or religion to participate in paid work and elevate personal and societal hygiene (OECD, 2013). Droogsma (2007, p. 294) explains the role of hijab in Muslim women's lives:

Visible Muslim identity brings difficulties with it as well. While the women appreciate being recognized as Muslim women, people too often associate negative and erroneous attributes with this identity and treat the women according to stereotype.

Scholars have recognized that women are also penalized triply for their gender, religion and whether they wear hijab and found a robust connection between visible symbols of 'difference' such as hijab, and experiences of discrimination (Karimi, 2018; Kamenou & Fearfull, 2006; Syed & Pio, 2009). Due to the visibility marker of 'otherness', namely the hijab, Muslim women are often considered as an explicit ambassador of Islam (Khattab & Modood, 2015). Therefore, they become overtly and covertly target of extreme discrimination (Sakaranaho, 2008; Lovat, Nilan, Hosseni, Samarayi, Mansfield, & Alexander, 2013). It is a fact that experiences of discrimination are often shaped by optimal markers of ethnicity, culture or religion (Khattab & Modood, 2015). Syd and Pio (2009) insistently documents that hijab wearing women quite often encounter discrimination, intimidating expressions, yelling, and violence.

Moreover, Media use women's body and their religious dress 'hijab' as tool to publicize Islam as monolithic, authoritarian and violent religion. Eisenlohr (2012) noted that the media has extensively sponsored the dispersion of controversial projection about hijab and Islamophobia which has isolated and excluded Muslim women and left them unsupported by the society & public organizations (Eisenlohr, 2012). Such mediatic representation based on the dress code of Muslim women who belongs to Middle Eastern and Asian countries, often incite hatred towards them and provoke anti-Muslim sentiment amongst workplaces (Jahedi, Abdullah & Mukundan, 2015; Ahmed & Matthes, 2016; Manan, 2008) which consequently hinders the employment opportunities and inclusion of Muslim women. Therefore, rejection of women based on their religion and race

stimulates the intersection of various types of discrimination such as sexism, racism and gendered Islamophobia (Nagra, 2018).

The politicization of hijab and Islam directed a continent-wide anti-burqa campaign and laws supporting full or partial ban have exposed the potential rejection of women who choose to appear in hijabs, burqa, chadors, or any kind of head-covering (Heath, Rothon & Kilpi, 2008). Such rulings are specifically gendered because such prohibitions directly discriminate these women in labour market because of their faith and gender whereas Muslim men remain unaffected (Gilliat-Ray, 2010; Holvino, 2010). As a French sociologist demonstrated that since bans on hijab has been enacted not a single prosecution has been recorded against Muslim men, whereas hundreds of women have faced charges as a result of persistence in practicing hijab (De Féo, 2018).

The effects of such legislations are recognizable, particularly in the labour market, as tested by many scholars. For example, Tisserant et al. (2012) measured the specific discriminatory effects by submitting fictitious job applications for a similar post by both western candidates and hijab wearing candidates with similar qualifications. They concluded that out of 149 successful candidates who received positive responses, only one candidate who appeared in her CV wearing hijab was successful. The European Network against Racism (ENAR) (2016, p. 17) conducted a continent-wide research study and corroborated this trend:

Some studies, including CV testing and victimization surveys offer evidence of the intersectional discrimination faced by Muslim women, especially at the level of access to employment, which appears to be at the core of discrimination experiences of Muslim women, according to the national reports. Muslim women are subject to three types of penalties in employment: gender 'penalties', ethnic 'penalties', and religious 'penalties.

Based on these diverse yet intersecting factors, Muslim women have reportedly been criticized by their superiors for wearing hijab or stressed to remove their hijabs and in some cases terminated from their jobs (Nagra, 2018). The discourses that circle around the Muslim women's bodies and physical representation create widespread stereotype and develop a constant boundary between

'Us' and 'Them', an echoing of Huntington's 'Clash of Civilization' (1997). The rhetoric of 'Us' and 'Them' remains static in public and political spheres and significantly affects the labour market position of Muslim women. Muslim women are fully aware of the perception that society holds has against them, which has detrimental effects on their social and economic well-being (Abdullahi, 2016). Moreover, such negative stereotypes harm psychological hygiene and damage self-motivation (Kunst et al., 2013) which further stems exclusion from labour market.

Women who wear hijab experience discrimination in career development as well, such as a reduced probability to be called back after an interview compared to those who don't wear hijab. The popular argument is that the implication of so-called stereotypes about Muslims' appearances or dress codes inculcate the idea that there is difficulty when dealing with customers and members of the public (Sakaranaho, 2008). However, discrimination based on religious dressing and its effects on those who wear hijab have been little studied (Karimi, 2018). Brah (1993) emphasize on interrogating the structures in which the labour market and Muslim women place themselves. She further argued that the structural processes are 'both gendered and racialized' and the social paradigms of gender, race, religion and other types of identities contribute in stereotyping (Brah, 1993). These social paradigms become possible markers of behavior for employers and co-workers towards Muslim women from diverse ethnicities and backgrounds (Brah, 1993).

The discriminatory attitudes by employers, colleagues and customers create a negative atmosphere towards specific appearances and religion and undervalue the qualifications of Muslim women, where these women underwent a great career transition (Fligstein, 2001; Syed & Özbilgin, 2009). For example, despite having similar or higher levels of education as compared to women in general, Muslim women are more likely to work in lower class and lower paid occupations (Khattab & Modood, 2015; OECD, 2018). Discrimination encountered by these women persist and they profoundly find their qualifications and skillsets devalued in the labour market (Salminen-Karlsson Almgren, Aye, Wolffarm, Apostolov & Kerina, 2011). Meurs & Pailhe (2006) explain the depth of Muslim women captivity which is, "experienced by them as an entire spectrum of limitations, not only in terms of their chances of getting hired, but also with regard to the type of jobs they are offered (p.37)". Such limitations reflect the idea that different stereotypes set up a general kind of suspicious and discriminatory attitude e.g., using a name as a marker, dress code as a symbol and

language as a barrier of inclusion and exclusion of an individual and allows to exhibit agency by ethnic and religious bargains (Fligstein, 2001; Syed & Pio, 2009).

Additionally, discrimination against ethnic minorities and Muslim women develops mono-cultural organization which allows low-level of inclusion of Muslim employees and minimizes the probability of socialization of ethnic minority workers (Cox & Blake, 1991). Mono-culturalism instates the factor of the glass door and glass ceiling, which barricade the participation of Muslims women in management roles (Syed & Pio, 2009). Therefore, recent studies propose that although Muslim women have been provided the same grounds for education and professional training as their fellow host country citizens, they apparently do not experience the same in the labour market (Balicki & Wells, 2011).

By considering the labour market situation in Finland, which is potentially constructed and reconstructed through socio-political policies regarding immigration, including economic structures i.e., labour market functions, organizational arrangements as well as worker's actions and individual's perspectives potentially form exclusionary responses from foreign communities, particularly Muslim women (Kontos, 2009; Sakaranaho, 2008; Habti & Korhonen, 2014). Sakaranaho (2008) exclaimed that discrimination and segregated structures constitute a severe impediment for Muslim women participating in social and economic activities in Finnish society.

### 2.4 INTERSECTIONAL ANALYSIS OF LABOUR MARKET INCLUSION

Using Crenshaw's (1989) conceptual framework of intersectionality, my research work focuses on the experiences that Muslim women encounter in inclusion in the labour market, viewing the perspectives of participants through the intersectional perspective, female, Muslim and ethnicity, and a combination of these into an intersectional identity. Intersectionality reflects the aspects that formulate identities and set experiences of diverse forms of oppression such as gender, ethnicity, and religion and in this case Muslim women, who are recurrently subjugated of multi-level and multi-layered forms of discrimination in the employment sector (Syed & Ozbligin, 2015). Although the complex theory of intersectionality does not always provide a candid solution to the problems

that Muslim women experience in their everyday lives (Rodriguez, Holvino, Fletcher & Nkomo, 2016). However, it provides sufficient evidence of the construction of intersectional identities and how these identities intersect with each other, specifically at work for women with a Muslim background (Tariq & Syed, 2017).

The term 'intersectionality' was used to highlight the degree of overlapping and intersecting identities, which are countered by oppressive practices. Intersectionality proposes that the intersection of multiple identities of an individual form an entirely new identity (Tariq & Syed, 2018; Enno, 2012). All these identities work together in shaping the experiences of an individual and influence on how these respective societies interact with them (Crenshaw, 1991). Each characteristic of a person is inseparably connected with all other characteristics. Crenshaw (1989) argues that because of the diverse nature of identities, the practice of oppression and consequent penalties are also multidimensional and interweaved. Experiences of racism and sexism do not occur separately from one another but work in conjunction (Syed & Ozbligin, 2015). For this reason, intersectionality does not merely illustrate an individual linear identity but an analysis of the power hierarchies in the society (Foucalt, 1998). In summary, intersectionality framework presents an insight into how multiple systems of oppression interdepend, interact and formulate complex social inequalities (Disch & Hawkesworth, 2015).

In this study, the theory of intersectionality has been used to dissect and dismantle those intersectional factors that commune to barricade inclusion of a Muslim woman in the labour market (Tariq & Syed, 2018). Applying a gender lens to the issue, the constructed rhetoric of the image of Muslim women in Western discourses has been remarkably utilized and manipulated in such a way that it has legitimized politicized claims about Islam and its teachings (Ghanem, 2017). Politicizing Muslim women's bodies as a failure to Western values and secular ideologies, creates a possible friction that results in the denial of women's emancipation and exclusion from social and public spheres (Ghanem, 2017).

It is essential to recognize the interconnection and intersection between gender, religion and religious expressions. This intersection exposes Muslim women to multilayered structural discrimination and disadvantages all at the same time. Many studies have provided candid evidences that Muslim women do face structural and intersectional challenges whilst functioning

in the diverse sectors of the society (Makkonen, 2002; Ghanem, 2017; Tariq & Syed, 2018). Such exclusion based on intentional or unintentional discrimination can be direct, indirect, structural or institutional (Makkonen, 2002). Structural discrimination defines the failure of understanding the impact of certain practices and policies on specific groups especially when those groups are already in vulnerable positions (Makkonen, 2002). As Crenshaw (1991, p. 1249) emphasized: "Intersectional subordination need not be intentionally produced, in fact, it is frequently the consequence of the imposition of one burden that intersects with pre-existing vulnerabilities to create yet another dimension of disempowerment". For instance, the impact of anti-minarets, antiburqa or anti-immigration laws and policies do not affect people equally, as they solely strike to hijab wearing Muslim women and completely spare men (Gillay-Ray, 2010). Such policies and practices express that 'gendered penalty' with juncture of 'Muslim penalty' hit hard on Muslim women and further suppress their inclusion in the society and labour market (Khattab & Hussein, 2018) because they find their chances of acceptance very slim.

Intersectional discrimination, on the other hand, represents the combination of these various types of discrimination when it occurs repeatedly and frequently to marginalized vulnerable people (Makkonen, 2002), in this case, Muslim women. Intersectional discrimination occurs when discrimination interrelates contemporarily to minority women and they become subjected to particular kinds of prejudices and stereotypes whilst entering the labor market (Makkonen, 2002). They might encounter a specific type of racial discrimination, which other women and men do not experience. Crucial to this type of intersectional discrimination is the fact that minority women from a Muslim background are easily targeted, objectified and invisibly subjected to discrimination and segregation (Makkonen, 2002) from inclusive labour market. Crenshaw (2000, para. 19) elaborates in a background paper for 'gender-related aspects of racial discrimination about the experiences of minority women':

Intersectional discrimination is particularly difficult to identify in contexts where economic, cultural or social forces quietly shape the background in a manner that places women in a position where they are then impacted by some other system of subordination. This structural backdrop is often rendered invisible because it is so common or widespread that it appears to simply constitute a natural - or at least

unchangeable - fact of life. The effect is that only the most immediate aspect of discrimination is noticed, while the background structures remain obscured.

In agreement with intersectionality, the intersectional form of discrimination is crucial because it advocates gender inequality and ignores harm and ill-affecting consequences not only for Muslim women, but for all those who are underrepresented (Nagra, 2018; Tariq & Syed, 2018; Zwysen & Longhi, 2016). Therefore, the women with a Muslim background and visible identity mark of their hijab experience far more complex and intersectional challenges in the labour market than their other and male Muslim counterparts (Gilliat-Ray, 2010).

Such structural forces position Muslim women to absorb the penalties as they preconceive that they have no rights in the host society, especially when it comes to their hijab practice (Abdullahi, 2016). Yet again, the main reason lies in the non-assisting policies and general societal atmosphere which works in the background, and which is evidently adverse against Islam and Muslims: "the odds are stacked against them" (UN Special Rapporteur on Violence Against Women, 2002, p. 17).

While Muslim women persist as a visible symbol of patriarchal religion by their physical representation, little room has been given to them to voice their particular needs and express their understanding and definition of agency (Ghanem, 2017). With regard to Finnish society, Saarinen and Jäppinen (2014) criticized the political will of the Finnish-Nordic regime which completely excludes Muslim women when it comes to formal decision making about their social and economic life. In other words, the absence of their voice in formulating integration policies and labour market strategies leads to a poor representation of them which leads to an imbalanced, unjust society (Joro, 2019).

## 3. RESEARCH DATA AND METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

In this chapter, the processes used during the data collection of this study are described and the current challenges Muslim women experience in the employment sector in Finland are analyzed. Furthermore, the research strategy, methods of data collection, sampling procedures, data analysis, ethical issues and limitations that occurred during the research are presented. In order to conduct an empirical study, a qualitative research methodology approach was adopted to determine the indepth intersectional issues and challenges Muslim women face to acquire a place and function in the labour market in Finland. My study inspects how women from a Muslim background perceive their inclusion and exclusion in the workplaces and how their experiences of discrimination shape their way in Finnish labour market. These comprehensions will be analyzed in chapter four. The focus of the study was to investigate how the intersection of gender, ethnicity and religion works while generating diverse experiences for women from dissimilar ethnic and Islamic denominations. The participants of the study were inquired about the extent that gender, cultural background, language and religion affect the probability of getting jobs and in-job experiences. Interviews were conducted during the months of August and November 2018.

The qualitative approach is considered suitable in order to explore the diverse implications of, for example, how people or communities impute to social and human problems (Creswell & Clark, 2011), as well as to provide rich narratives based on individual experiences (Lapan, Quartaroli & Riemer, 2012). Furthermore, small groups of people are mostly easy to approach, although results can be difficult to quantify. Another advantageous factor is that a qualitative approach allows for a comprehensive explanation and analysis of the research theme without controlling and limiting the purview of the research as well as the nature of the information collected by participants (Collis & Hussey, 2003). Conversely, the efficacy of a qualitative approach is based upon the capabilities of the researcher; the results may not be professed as dependable because the interpretations are based on the researcher's personal predictions. Also, due to the fact that qualitative research is more suitable for small samples, the results cannot be depicted as a reflection of the wider population's opinions (Bell & Waters, 2014).

#### 3.1 DATA COLLECTION AND METHODS OF STUDY

The data collection has taken place in relation to All Youth Want to Rule Their World research project, which is funded by the Strategic Research Council (decision numbers 312689 and 312692) of the Academy of Finland. The data collected for this thesis has also been used for the article published in Nuorisotutkimus (Tokola, Rättilä, Honkatukia, Mubeen & Mustalahti, 2019). As the requirement of the research, peer research approach was utilized to get more proximate findings and analysis of Muslim women's experiences in Finnish labour market. Peer research approach has the potential to enable people to participate in research by abating the imbalance between researcher and participants (Northcote & Phillips, 2019; Kelly, Gilligan, Friel, Smith, Pinkerton & McShane, 2017). Moreover, peer research approach helps to reduce the bias and provide an improved and proximate understanding of the phenomenon (Roche, Guta & Flicker, 2010). Therefore, as a Muslim woman myself, I have more imminent understanding of the culture and the effect of religious practices on Muslim women's experience in Finnish labour market. The Data has been collated from different regions of Finland, including southern and central Finland. The participants were residing in Helsinki, Turku and Jyväskylä.

One of the biggest challenges was to find suitable female candidates who are both Muslim and working in Finland. With the help of multicultural organizations, mosques and universities, Muslim women from South Asian and Middle Eastern countries were recruited. Participants were of Pakistani, Bahrain and Bangladeshi origins. All participant identified themselves as Muslims and the majority of the participants wore hijab (6 out of 7). It is necessary to acknowledge that Muslim women head-covering practices differ according to their cultural and religious belonging. All participants were highly qualified and were previously employed in their home countries. The selection of diverse cultural backgrounds and diverse statuses were intended to avoid the homogeneity of the experiences of Muslim women.

The method that is referred as a purposive sampling technique was used while selecting participants. In this study participants were selected based on their religion, gender and participation in labour market. I further tried to find participants who wear hijab, burqa or any form of veil. Thus, the focus of the research was on the participants who were female, identify themselves as Muslim, wear hijab, are working and have correlation to the research subject

(Freedman et al., 2007). In other words, my research focuses on the participants who have a particular relationship with the phenomenon under examination, adequate qualifications and active in employment sector. The snowball technique was utilized to reach the targeted group and to enhance the proximity of the research. Within this context, the participants of this study belonged to the following profiles:

Table 1: Information about Interviewees

Pseudonyms & Age group	Occupational Fields in country of origin	Occupational Fields in Finland	Employment Type			
Sami (20-24)	Accountants	Student / Hospital, Domestic Kitchen Helpers/Cleaners	Part Time			
Zuna (25-29)	Teaching Profession	Bakers, Pastry Cooks and Confectionary Makers	Full time			
Qurat (25-29)	Pharmacologists, Pathologists and related professions	Housewife	Full Time			
Tusi (30-34)	Nutrition	Nursing	Full Time			
Duria (35-39)	Teaching Profession	Hospital, Domestic Kitchen Helpers/Cleaners	Full Time			
Malik (35-39)	Dentists	Housewife	Full Time			
Fariha (35-39)	Hairdressers, Barbers, Beautician and related work	Hairdressers, Barbers, Beautician and related work	Full Time			
Classification of Occupations by Statistic Finland (2001)						

The most recent classification of occupations by Statistics Finland (2001) (English version) is used to provide information about the careers of interviewed women and yet to keep their identities anonymous. All the interviewees between the ages of 20-39. Most of these Muslim women working full time jobs except one participant studying as well as working part time in cleaning industry. Two of the participants are full time involved in private spheres. Due to the sensitivity of the

research topic, the identity of the participants is kept anonymous and they are addressed with using pseudonyms.

In-depth interviews were used to underline Muslim women narratives about how stereotypical concepts of their intersectional identities effect their social and economic lives. In-depth interviews are considered suitable as they are beneficial to study and understand exploratively the assessments, experiences and views of marginalized groups (Labaree, 2019). Another useful benefit of in-depth interviews is that they are unstructured which offers flexibility to both the researcher and interviewee to address queries according to the flow of the interview. However, such an approach can potentially diverge from the particular goals and objectives of the research (Gill & Johnson, 2002). I used a semi-structured questionnaire to establish an interview guide. Furthermore, I conducted a pilot study in order to refine the guide questions to direct the interview towards the required research objectives. However, additional and unstructured questions were improvised to extract more useful information from the participants during the process.

After reaching the potential participants, time was organized to conduct interviews. As I am a native speaker of Urdu, the interviews were conducted both in English and Urdu. The interviews were recorded, cautiously analyzed and to avoid any biased results, outliers were subtracted carefully. In order to clarify my understandings and confirm the interpretations of their answers, I have been in contact with the interviewees throughout the research.

I arranged meeting at their time of disposal and met a few of them at their universities, homes and cafes in order to understand them and their everyday life. As a researcher, I focused especially on the interviewees' cultural and individual behavior which could affect the findings. Meeting with them several times not only helped me to understand their thoughts but also helped them to open up about the topic. Due to the in-depth technique of interview, there were significant differences in the time period of interviews, but the average duration was approximately 1–1.5 hours. The interview questions can be found in the appendix.

Seven interviews were conducted, and held privately on a one-to-one base, and were recorded and transcribed. Where needed, follow-up questions were also sent via text messages. In the same way

that Glassner and Loughlin (1987) explain, rapport was assembled throughout the interview with each participant, harvesting the genuine interest of the interviewer in understanding the experiences of the interviewees. Although the typical framework of the questions was used, however, participants were encouraged to say what they assumed was necessary and discuss any topic they considered important to elaborate their opinions. However, "all qualitative research is predicated on establishing personal, moral and political relationships of trust between the researcher and the researched" (Scarton, 2007, p. 16).

The collected data was analyzed by examining the transcripts and by scrutinizing key themes and sub themes. Content analysis involves looking at the data collected from the interviews in detail and specifying the set of themes by observing certain patterns in the interview, and later classifying and assembling them through intersectional spectacles (Biggerstaff, 2012). During the analysis, themes that emerged were the experiences of Islamophobia, defining the headscarves as a problem, the supposed lack agency, oppression by men together with the lack of human capital, linguistic incompetency and trustworthiness, as well as the tendency among the participants not to report their experiences of discrimination to the authorities. The themes deduced from the studies were consisted of the major advantage of content analysis is that it helps to reduce and simplify the collected information while producing outcomes at the same time.

#### 3.2 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

This research has a broad scope, yet, I acknowledge certain limitations in this respect. The number of women interviewed is relatively small, and women who participate in the study come from specific regions, which means that the results might not comply with the experiences of women who have origins in other regions. For example, the experiences of Muslim women from an African heritage may be entirely different to the ones in this study. Furthermore, the narratives of Muslim women who have migrated from Somalia, Afghanistan and other Arab countries e.g. Iraq, Jordan, Palestine and Syria cannot be documented as I was unable to communicate in their native languages.

The current study does not assess the skills and abilities of women with little or no education as well as with little or no previous background of working. Also, a number of Muslim women with qualifications and experience deny working in public and prefer to remain in the private spheres. This study also does not explore the Muslim women who are involved in entrepreneurship and businesses. Therefore, it works as a foundation for exploring what challenges Muslim women tend to face in managing their economic and social life, remaining in the limits of what their religious values and ethics promote, and why they may face these challenges.

#### 3.3 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

In social science research dealing with people's intimate experience, ethical issues are a major concern. For this study, ethical considerations were fully addressed. I explained to participants the nature and potential scope of the study to the participants and recorded their consents to participate in the research with their free will. All participants showed their consensus and agreement to use the information provided by them for the purpose of research and publication. Various methods of communication were used to hold the interviews, such as face-to-face, Skype and WhatsApp.

All participants agreed to participate in the research by signing a written informed consent form (see appendix B) and were also briefed verbally to further clarify the purpose and publication of the content. The respondents were thoroughly informed about the objectives and the purpose of the study was clearly stated to them. In debriefing, the members were assured that their participation is voluntary, and that they are at liberty to withdraw at any point for any reason whatsoever.

Pseudonyms were given to avoid the risk of the participants being identifiable. The participants were informed and consented to the pseudonyms being labeled to them. They were also reassured that their names and answers will remain confidential and utilized solely for the purpose of the research.

The subject of the research is sensitive because it deals with the women's identities and bodies. Therefore, it was cautiously assured during the interview process that none of the participants felt harmed, abused or exploited, neither physically nor psychologically. As Liamputtong (2007) has

expressed that social researcher has to delve into issues that are sensitive in nature and deals with vulnerable populations. Liamputtong (2007) titled such sensitives areas as 'back regions' that are 'private spaces' where only insiders can participate and 'be sensitive to the confidences and intimacies of other'. Due to the fact that I am a Muslim and able to position myself (Chavez, 2008) within the private space of the 'vulnerable' population as I shared common grounds with my participants in terms of gender, religion and religious attire such as hijab, it was easy to anticipate and understand the specific religious and ethnic terms used as well as participants showed a degree of trust. I remained genuinely concerned about and understanding of the sensitivity of the matter and successfully created rapport with the participants and an atmosphere of comfort.

During the debriefing process (Allen, 2017), as mentioned earlier, I have provided participants the clear intention of the study and established their consent about the information and the nature of the study as well as usage of the research. At the end of the study, I have informed participants about the results being extracted from their interviews. If the participant has indicated any misconception, I have reasonably corrected those misconceptions in order to get more realistic and accurate insight of the study. The practice of informing research participants of research result is "fundamental to the ethical principal of respect for persons, as to offer research results to the participants treats them in the highest regards (MacNeil & Fernandez, 2006, p. 49)".

## 4. EXPERIENCES OF INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION OF MUSLIM WOMEN IN FINNISH LABOUR MARKET

As mentioned earlier, I began this study with the purpose of researching the inclusion of Muslim women in Finnish labour market. However, as I started to conduct the interviews, I soon realized that the themes that emerged through the narratives of these Muslim women were more concentrated on the experiences of discrimination and exclusion. The interviews revealed how the intersection of Muslim women identity, including their use of hijab, cultural background and migration status came together and negatively affected on their experiences in the labour market. Therefore, this analytical chapter deals largely with the experience of exclusion and discrimination as they were narrated by the research participants.

The chapter focuses, first, on the experiences of exclusion and discrimination of Muslim women as they themselves perceive them. Thenceforth, it moves on to discuss the factors that help to explain these experiences and conclude with the summary of findings. Table 2 summarizes the set of key themes that reflect the experiences of interviewed Muslim women and their perspectives in Finnish labour market.

Fig 1. Themes and subthemes retrieved from the analysis of interviews

Factors which enable exclusion and discrimination – Perspectives from Muslim women

#### Theme1: Theme 2: Theme 4: Theme 3: Intersectionality Media reporting Language Agressive of Experiences About Islam career steering competency Subthemes Subthemes Subthemes Subthemes Being identified as Negative Lack of human Lack of a Muslim woman representation capital language of Muslim due to hiiab fluency Low-skilled Being denied Being oppressed Islamophobia jobs by men to provide Discouraged profession Hijab portray radicalism job seeker related Lacking agency language training

Factors enabling exclusion and discrimination are largely shaped by social, organizational and structural factors.

# 4.1 MUSLIM WOMEN'S PERCEPTIONS AND EXPERIENCES OF EXCLUSION AND DISCRIMINATION

Firstly, it is rudimentary to mention that experiences of Muslim women in the Finnish labour market cannot be comprehended through the traditional gender frameworks as all of the participants shared that they experience discrimination because they are easily identified as Muslim whereas Muslim men are hard to recognize. Secondly, all participants were associated to the jobs which are highly female concentrated, thus, their experiences are merely different than the typical experiences of gender-based discrimination.

Tusi, a Bangladeshi woman (30-34) with a nursing profession, describes that her job-seeking experience was unaffected by gender-based discrimination because she believes that her field of work is highly female concentrated. However, in her opinion her experience might differ if she was employed in a male-dominated profession.

In Finnish society, I think gender is hardly an issue of getting and accelerating in this profession. I have never experienced any obstacle in the way to get my current position because I am a woman, but I have to struggle to get this job as a Muslim woman wearing hijab. I have never been told by interviewer that I cannot do this job because I am a woman, but my hijab has been questioned a lot.

In addition to this, Fariha, a Pakistani woman (35-39) working in beauty industry shared a similar kind of narrative as her profession is also heavily dominated by women. She believes her experience was not influenced by typical gender-related discriminatory practices. She states:

My personal experience as a woman is very progressive in my profession. As I belong to the world fastest growing economical profession where men are least participating. Even when I was in my country, I never felt threatened by men as I hardly confront them in this profession. I only experience discrimination as a woman when I wear hijab.

Muslim women in my study overtly identified religion as the core reason of exclusion and discriminatory experiences, in this case, women who associate themselves with Islamic faith. The participants of this study openly expressed that in Finnish society, being identifiable as Muslim due to their headscarves put them in a more vulnerable situation and they frequently and repeatedly face prejudice, experience fear and are easy targets of hate mongering, stigmatization and have to deal with the loss of social inclusion in Finnish society. Fariha (35-39) working in beauty industry recalls one of the horrendous incidents happened to her while campaigning against racism:

I remember when I came to Finland, Red cross has organized an anti-racism stall in city center, and I was also participating in that campaign. Suddenly, a man

approached me and started to shout something in Finnish. I couldn't understand a word at that time but the girl standing next to me told me that he is saying bad words for me and asking me to take off my headscarf or go back where I have come from. He was very angry, and I was very terrified. All of a sudden, he pushed me aggressively. At that point some people from around intervened and called the police.

The Women and Equalities Committee report (2016-17) reveals that the rate of unemployment and job seeking is three times higher for Muslim women than women in general. Many women I spoke with, quote a state of 'self-segregation' from social and economic spaces as a response to anti-Muslim statements, a notion that is also identified by British social policy research (Kalra & Kapoor, 2017). The Pakistan based former pharmacist, Qurat (25-29) explained the reason she chose to stay at home and not to work because she believes that she is not strong enough to deal with negative remarks about her religion and choice of attire:

Seriously, I am not a strong person when it comes to my identity as a Muslim. I cannot take it when someone throws hatred at me. It destroys me emotionally and psychologically and I think my only way to escape is to keep away from outside world. I am educated and experienced, but I am also a Muslim and I do not have courage to face hate towards my looks. Many of my Muslim friends also do not work. They all are also educated but decided to remain at homes. It's hard but at least less hurtful.

A Duria (35-39) working in cleaning industry recounts how her Muslim friends cautioned her about the possible unfriendly working environment and advised to stay home:

My friends warned me when I want to apply for a job and prepared me to listen negative responses because of my hijab. They told me that none of them got jobs when they came here and now, they are degree-holder-housewives and happy because they do not have to listen and face humiliation.

Another mode of discrimination that the participants of this study experienced are related to the hiring process. They have been continuously questioned about their hijab by interviewers and

incessantly rejected because of that for longer period of time. The prevalent policies and legislations might be open and non-discriminatory but hiring and decisions at entry-level can be highly affected by the dominant discourses about head-covering women (Andriessen, Nievers, Dagevos & Faulk, 2012). Furthermore, discrimination during the hiring process may be very common but it is also the hardest to prove (Andriessen et al., 2012). Tusi (30-34) shared an event when she has been discouraged even before entering in Finnish labour market:

A social worker told me that to get job in nursing would be difficult for me. When I asked why she said, you are wearing this scarf and you are Muslim, you have your own limits, so this field might cause you some difficulties. So, I advise you to think before applying. I wondered at that time 'why it is difficult as a Muslim'. But when I finished my studies and started to find work, I have been rejected many times because I refused to compromise my hijab. Then I understood that sometimes people don't want to listen, they don't respect your religion or anything. They have their own business and they want to run it in their own way.

Hijab, with its various associations has become a globally polarizing issue and a political symbol (Suroor, 2016). It has created a boundary between Muslims and others, between liberality and tradition and between modernity and Islam (Modood, 2005). However, the role of the hijab in the day-to-day lives of Muslim women is a controversial subject. Fariha (35-39), who works in the beauty industry, explains the struggle she faced daily with her employer because of her hijab:

At first, my employer allowed me to wear hijab in salon but few days later my boss started to ask me to take off the scarf and telling me that you are in Finland now, 'why you are using the scarf'. Every week on her shift, she insists on taking my hijab off. So, I am in lot stress and I am thinking that maybe I should not be going there anymore.

Fariha (35-39) left her job after a short while of this interview and also quit to complete her studies in cosmetology because she believes that there is no point in wasting time and energy when working opportunities are so negatively conditioned for her. Such an experience reveals the intolerant attitudes towards Hijab-wearing women in the Finnish workplaces. As a result, these women start to avoid participating in labour market or at least get involved in those sectors where

their presence is either invisible or does not require public contact. There is a widely spread perception that is generally accepted in Finnish society is that hijab symbolizes oppression and is offensive, disturbing and threatening, therefore, must be removed in order to practice equality (Jahedi, Abdullah & Mukundan, 2015). Furthermore, Abdullahi (2016) noted that the discrimination based on hijab appears to be the most patent explanation for women's exclusion from the labour market. My study also corroborates that the general perception attached to their hijab in Finnish society significantly shape their choices of inclusion and exclusion from labour market.

The participants desperately uttered that they have to extensively prove their agency specially when it comes to their choice to wear hijab. They exclaimed that they have to greatly explain that they are not being forced by their husbands, fathers or brothers, yet they are never successful in convincing them. Zuna (25-29) from Pakistan, working in bakery field, shared an incident when her employer and some colleagues expressed their concern about her headscarf and insisted that it should be removed:

Why you wear scarf? Does your husband push you to that? Does your family put pressure on you, when I said no, it is my own choice, they pretended not listening and continued on insisting: you do not need to worry here? Here you are safe, you have rights, and no one can pressurize you to wear this 'THING', it was very devastating.

Zuna (25-29) further stated that she has also been suggested that her beauty should be revealed by taking off her hijab as she is now part of society which allows her to practice sartorial freedom:

I was standing in library when a man approached me and said 'Why you cover your head, you are very beautiful. You do not have to wear the hijab, and you do not have to be hiding your looks. You are in Finland and here you are free to do whatever you want; you do not have to wear that'. I tried to convince him that it is my personal choice and decision but as usual he was not convinced.

The exhaustiveness of Muslim women is displayed through this excerpt and it gives an insight into their everyday lives, which they endure regularly as a consequence of their religious and cultural choices. Such experiences echo the Western orientalist discourse (Said, 1978), which poses Muslim women in submissive and victim positions at the hands of their male folks as well as the exhibition of liberty and empowerment is through the exposition of one's bodily image and sexuality, while completely ignoring their right of choice, honor to their culture and respect to their religious traditions. Ghanem (2017) argued that the practice of religious freedom and religious expression for Muslim women becomes an issue of bias, therefore, thwarted by the fixed and constructed comprehension of their religiously inspired choices, inferred as a symbol of submissiveness or extremism. By painting Muslim women as submissive and victimized results in eluding their agency and self-pride in the public sphere which consequently affects their capabilities to include in labour market.

My results support that the women who are particularly adaptive of Islamic doctrines including those who observe hijab and other form of veil dressings such as jilbab, burqa, niqab or chador accentuate visible markers of alienation. Positioning strangers as 'dangers' often postulates a gateway to prejudice and ferocity against them (Dale & Ahmed, 2011). The colour of the skin, eyes and hair, pose difference and non-belongingness from the mainstream race (Heath & Martin, 2012). In the case of this study, the combination a Muslim woman and a woman of foreign background often develops grounds for racial discrimination specifically in labour market. Tusi, a Bangladeshi woman (30-34) working in Nursing industry shared her job seeking experience in the following excerpt:

Some interviewers got really outraged and insulted me, Because I am from foreign background. They ask questions like, 'Can you handle Finnish people?' because being nurses we have to handle all those patients, and mostly they are from Finnish backgrounds.

She expressed her exasperation about always being characterized as different and threatening to the overall esteem of Finnish societal values. Considering the Finnish context, such encounters endorses the dichotomous and stereotypical perception that women from the Eastern hemisphere are uncivilized and unprivileged; they lack the abilities to cope with a civilized version of the society (Said, 1978). Fariha, Pakistani participant (35-39) working in beauty industry expressed that she has regularly being interrogated by customers about her abilities to perform beauty services:

It happened many times that customers asked me whether I am capable of doing the services such as, manicure and pedicure or not. When I ask them why they think that I can't do this, they replied because it might doesn't happen in my country. Then I have to explain them that every service which they are having here, also being offered in my country and I myself used to take these services there. Sometimes customers get satisfied but most of the time they ask for an exchange from the shift managers to some Finnish staff.

Hence, this study highlights the complexity of deprivation that Muslim women face, whether a person is discriminated based on, for instance, her gender, ethnicity, religion, or religious expression. Miaari et al. (2018) also indicated that Muslim women experiences discrimination in the labour market are highly based on their religious and cultural visibility (Miaari et al., 2018). Evidently, it specifies that different types of discrimination are often entwined with each other. As Fariha (35-39) from Pakistan involved in beauty industry narrated:

I find it difficult to separate that I have been discriminated because I am a woman or Pakistani or Muslim or wear hijab, I don't know, I think everything somehow play a role in my experiences of rejection and discrimination.

It is evident from numerous studies that women who are practicing Islam are most likely to be disadvantaged amongst other social groups (Nagra, 2018; Tariq & Syed, 2018; Zwysen & Longhi, 2016).

## 4.2 PREJUDICES AGAINST MUSLIMS AND THE ROLE OF MEDIA

In the name of the so-called 'war on terror' era, and radical Islamist ideologies such as ISIS, Al-Qaida and the Taliban, Islam has been presented as a big threat to the Western world and Islamic cultures resultantly become unwelcomed (Nagra, 2018) and Finland have not remain unaffected

(Newby & Gavan, 2003) to carry those negative perceptions about Islam. My results suggest that negative perceptions about Islam and Muslims give birth to multiple challenges for Muslim women and media intensifies and inflames the negativity that affect these women's workplace experiences. Similarly, all participants indicated that media holds a blatant role in spreading false stories and flagrant inexactitudes about Islam which not only misrepresent Islam but also create negative outcomes for them. They constant feel themselves them under the radar of tough scrutiny by employers and colleagues.

Fariha (35-39), engaged in beauty industry noted the extent of religion-based discrimination experienced by her in the workplace:

There is very big misconception about Islam. People think that all Muslim are terrorists which intensified if any terrorist attack happened anywhere. People instantaneously think it must be by Muslims and I have to go through the process of proving myself as not-terrorist, non-threatening colleague. I also have to extensively explain to them that Islam does not teach about violence or terror etc. This is what I have to do all the time with my fellow workers. Apart from any violent happenings, I still have to constantly prove myself as innocent and against radicalism.

The influence of Islamophobia must not be underestimated in the day-to-day life of Muslim women. Samia (20-24), a Bahrain based woman who is studying and part-time working in cleaning industry, reveals in her interview the effect of Islamophobic reporting in media on her career:

When you read newspaper or switch to any news channel, nearly all stories about Muslims are negative. I never heard any positive news about us if I am in Europe. Media is programing the minds against one religion which resultantly effect their job seeking or injob experiences. I don't blame employers as they have very strong pre-determined false concepts about Islam and Muslims. In such atmosphere, how can they hire a Muslim woman when she is a potential terrorist or a threat to their organization? And you know it is easy to identify a MUSLIM woman.

I found ample narratives by participants that explicate that these women are evidently being discriminated because they are easily identifiable as Muslims, whereas Muslim men are hard to recognize, therefore, least victimized to the Islamophobic attitudes. Tusi (30-34), who is working in nursing sector, explains that being identified as Muslim woman had a major effect on her career whereas her male Muslim colleagues did not share same experience as she did:

I have faced enormous pressure from my supervisor on daily basis to remove my headscarf, but I didn't see anyone bothering my male Muslim colleagues to rip off their religious identities which actually they don't have any.

Abdullahi (2016, p. 7) claimed that "like many other modes of racism, Islamophobia is gendered" as it does not affect men and women equally. Tariq & Syed (2018) also discussed the prevailing wave of Islamophobia is most often affect women, whereas, men clearly do not experience it simultaneously. There can be numerous reasons behind the amplified vulnerability of Muslim women. Mainly, hijab wearing women are easily singled out as compared to others who do not observe the hijab, or men, and thus are more frequently targeted.

My study finds that it would not be false to claim that phobia towards Islam doubly affects the society. It perpetuates prejudice towards Islam and Muslims and on the other hand, it inculcates fear and precariousness amongst Muslims which seize their chances to mobilize freely and productively in Finnish society. Simultaneously, Islamophobia formulates structural segregation which can be seen in and hardened employment opportunities and biased social activities, which further discourage Muslims, specifically Muslim women inclusion in labor market (Kalra & Kapoor, 2017). The political attitude against Islam has not only affected the public policy but also altered the general attitude of common Finnish society (Habti & Korhonen, 2014). Either way, it infectiously affects the capabilities and activities of Muslim women in economic and social inclusion, as shared by participants.

On the other hand, some participants express their contentment about facing discrimination based on their religion as it gives them an opportunity to remove the stereotypes about their faith and beliefs by engaging in social and labour market arenas. For them the adversity did not hinder their morale of finding and doing work in the labour market. Duria (35-39), a former teacher stated:

I am happy that I have been given a chance to break all those stereotypical views people have in their minds, for example, all Muslims are terrorist or women who wear hijab are oppressed or conservative or uneducated. I take it as opportunity which I might not have if I don't come here and decided to work.

While some participants also have very optimistic views and expressed that by making workplaces more diversified, such as introducing more hijab wearing women will enhance the acceptance of different ethnicities and religions. Fariha (35-39), working in beauty industry shared:

I don't blame the society for being very conservative about us, women in hijab is quite new phenomena here. I think people are nice and they will ease down slowly when they see many women in hijab working and studying around. They will learn ultimately that Muslim women with hijab are not threat but a beneficial part of the society.

The participants mainly indicated that in the Finnish society, it is difficult for people to understand that a Muslim woman should have equal rights and the opportunity to achieve the same goals as other Finns regardless of their sartorial choices and religion attributes.

In conclusion, highly qualified women who have overcome major obstacles by training themselves in professions such as cosmetology, education, and confectionary etc. have been sidelined because of the assumption about their hijab and the notion that they are 'submissive and weak'. Secondly, Hijab in Finnish society is portrayed as a direct challenge to modernization, gender equality, and cultural attributes and Muslim women supposedly injure those principal values (Golesorkhi, 2017).

## 4.3 UNDERVALUING THE HUMAN CAPITAL OF MUSLIM WOMEN

Another complex notion of intersectional disadvantage experienced by these Muslim women is structural discrimination. This is an important finding in understanding the role of political will when it comes to the inclusion of Muslim women in Finnish labour market. Together with OECD (2018), my study confirms that the current Finnish employment system and policies are predominantly disadvantageous and failing to provide economic and social inclusivity to minority groups, particularly to Muslim women in Finnish labour market. Migrants are highly concentrated in low-skilled roles such as cleaning service industries, construction and cab driving in Finland regardless of their human capital (Platonova & Ursa, 2012). In this course, Muslim women face a triple jeopardy as Duria (35-39) working in cleaning industry shed a light on her job seeking experience:

Every time, when I try to find a job according to my qualification and experience through employment agencies or job centers, I have been directed to the jobs which are totally under-skilled for me. Every time I have been reminded that my competencies are not required in education but if I want to have work, I must be accepting the jobs where workers are needed. I need work desperately, so I accepted cleaning.

In addition to this, another notion emerged during interviews that the participants do not only experience aggressive steering towards low-skilled jobs but also experience direction towards those regional areas where labour shortage has been identified. In addition, guarantee of valid visa residency is only possible if the job falls in the region-required-job category. Duria (35-39) from Pakistan shared:

After six months of constant work in cleaning, I came to know that I cannot apply for a work visa on the basis of my cleaning work from the region I am working because that region does not fall under the area where cleaners are required. As I am unable to find other jobs, I am moving to another region where cleaners are required, just to secure my residence permit.

A further factor which aggravates such marginalization is that these Muslim women do not feel that they are in a situation to be 'choosy'. They have come from places of distress in very precarious situations and they have no one to support them in their home countries. Therefore, they often accept whatever they are being offered regardless of the fact that those jobs are much lower to what

they are qualified for and have the potential to do. Furthermore, the results of my study provide evidence that such structural obligations restrict these women to elevate their labour market position and if they are granted residence permit based on work, they are obligated to work only for that certain employer or in that certain field of work. Duria (35-39), working in cleaning industry, expressed her concerns about getting residence permit based on her work:

What worry me most is that if I get residence permit on the basis my cleaning work, I would not be allowed to change my profession no matter how much I get educated or qualified for a better job, not even if I get another job opportunity in my field of education. It is more like that I am getting married to cleaning and it would be hard to get divorced.

The above accounts indicate the extent of systematic structural discrimination these unprivileged women have been facing. There are ample studies that provide solid evidence that after being active for numerous years in low-skilled and non-related professions their skills are likely to degenerate and the probability of joining the education and experience related occupations decreases (Colic-Peisker & Tilbury, 2006; Sakranaho, 2008). Furthermore, being 'trapped' in low-skilled jobs means not only disappearance of crucial professional skills but also necessary peer networking as well as better job opportunities (Colic-Peisker & Tilbury, 2007).

Many participants saw such regulations as a case of structural penalty and an 'excuse' of denial from inclusion in society and in the labour market. Tusi (30-34) from Bangladesh working in nursing sector also mentioned the extreme structural barriers she must overcome in order to work in her desired profession:

Employment office recommended lower professions to me. As I have done my bachelor's in clinical nutrition in Bangladesh. I tried to find jobs in my respective field with no success. I decided to extend my studies here but to start my study here; employment office recommended me a lower degree totally out of health care sector. I have to fight hard to remain in my field of study. After my graduation from Finland in Finnish language, still employment office recommended me lower positions and totally irrelevant to health sector.

I concluded that no matter what your capabilities are, if you are of foreign background, they will always try to put you in lower jobs and position.

The results show that they are mostly unemployed or forced to employ within the country's specific required jobs category, which means that firstly, they have less opportunities to find jobs relevant to their qualifications and secondly, there is a lower probability for them to work in better-paying jobs (Bunglawala, 2008). However, as a consequence of rejecting the employment office's recommendations, structural sanctions are placed on these already discriminated women by seizing their unemployment benefits which are entitled to them to study freely and find work during their unemployed period. Tusi (30-34) working in nursing further explained:

When you are studying you get some benefits, like student money etc. employment office stopped my benefits many times, because I did not follow their recommendations. Not one time, but many times they stopped my benefits. And I had to pursue again and again and again. My benefits revived after three or four years of persistent follow ups. They are doing the same with others as well. Many of my friends have shared this with me.

Such structural constraints cause migrants, particularly these Muslim women to become distant from the labour market. The results demonstrate two things. First, such constraints stimulate despair and anxiety, and fragmenting levels of self-confidence among people merely attempting to achieve better life standards. Second, it inculcates unreliability over system which is visibly unable to protect their rights and decapitate their chances to be part of inclusive labour market. The harmful effects of unemployment or underemployment can be tyrannical because not only do they deprive Muslim women of an income but also cause, "psychological harm, loss of work motivation, skill and self-confidence, increase in ailments and morbidity, disruption of family relations and social life, hardening of social exclusion, and accentuation of racial tensions and gender asymmetries" (Sen, 1999, p. 94). The participants of this study assert that the ingrained discrimination, either attitudinal or structural, deteriorates their morale and leads to loss of self-esteem, which in return creates as Tan-Quigley (2004) describes a 'discouraged job seeker'.

## 4.4 THE EFFECT OF LANGUAGE DEFICIENY ON MUSLIM WOMEN

Muslim women involved in this study identified language proficiency as one of the biggest barriers in Finnish labour market. Migrants face considerable challenges in job seeking in Finland due to insufficient language proficiency (Yle uutiset, 2019) which further escalate limited participation of Muslim women (Lehtovaara, 2017). The general perception amongst participants is that without language competency it is difficult to find work. Duria (35-39), the former teacher explained why she chooses to do a cleaning job even though she is qualified and certified to do teaching related jobs:

It's very difficult to find job or to integrate to society without the language. My Finnish language skills are very bad. So, I had to start somewhere. My Finnish friend suggested me that it is very difficult to get a good job without Finnish language skills and it is important that I should start from somewhere to get into working life. So that's why I ended up working as cleaner.

The disadvantageous effects on these women who feel they had no choice but to accept the underskilled jobs because they have no other option for sustenance. Accepting any kind of job is a 'survival tool' to integrate into the Finnish society. Samia (20-24), a former accountant and currently studying business, shared her journey of finding work:

Language is the first thing that is being asked when you start finding jobs. Even at cleaning jobs which I am doing right now they ask about Finnish language skills, clearly where language has nothing to do. Finnish language is very difficult, and I do not know how and when I would be able to speak to the level that I would be hired for a decent job. May be never.

Participants were also asked their opinion about whether finding a job was challenging for them. Almost all of them pointed towards the unfair balance of seeking job between Finnish natives and them. Tusi (30-34), who completed her nursing education in Finnish language explained:

After graduating what I found challenging was that I am competing with people who speak Finnish as their first language, and they have experience with Finnish companies whereas I was weak in Finnish language and do not have experience in Finnish market before. For these reasons, I was very scared when I applied for the job and for me it is discriminating because It felt unfair. I worked hard and finished my studies here in Finland and studied nursing in Finnish but yet in the end, I have struggled a lot to get this job.

Similarly, Zuna (25-29), working in confectionary field also shared her experience of applying to a chef course. After being short-listed, she was called for an interview, which was held in a group with Finnish candidates in Finnish:

It was very exciting for me that after lots of efforts I have been called an interview for training in my desired profession. I never knew it would be a group interview. I was the only foreigner in the group. Even before I could reply to the questions of the interviewer, the other Finnish speaking members promptly reply. I was very confused and scared. My Finnish is good but it's not at the native level. So, my replies were also not like natives nor I was quick as they were. I did my best, but I knew I would not get this training place. Later, I got rejection with reason that I need to improve my language skills and then should apply again..... I felt devastated.

Later both Tusi and Zuna were able to secure jobs in their respective fields. Tusi (30-34) was finally able to secure a nursing job after two years of constant efforts and Zuna (25-29) has to get another language course to expand her Finnish skills. However, such 'tokenism' leaves these people with disadvantaged backgrounds feeling undervalued. Irrespective of their high level of qualification and skills, they are competing with applicants who have Finnish as their first language and previous experience in the Finnish labour market. Studies proposed that although Muslim women have been provided the same grounds for education and professional training as their fellow host country citizens, they apparently do not experience the same in the labour market (Balicki & Wells, 2011). Moreover, an excessive amount of attention is given to their incomplete language skills as compared to their professional skills.

As Colic-Peisker and Tilbury (2007) argued that profession related training is very complicated to get as there is noticeable lack of interest by the organizations to place migrants in trainings that enables them to accelerate. Similarly, this study indicates the parallel results as participants have identified that they have to struggle a lot to get language courses as well as work practice in their desired and relevant fields. Malik (35-39) who was practicing dentistry in her home country shared:

For 7 years I have studied dentistry and become a dentist. When I came to Finland, I knew that to continue in my field, I have to learn the Finnish. The courses being offered were for general language learning, but not the courses that enables me to learn the professional language that helps me to enters in the dentistry. I had to choose general language course but later, it become devastating to find internship at dentist clinics or hospitals. I was forced to do internship in paiva koti (day care). I tried to argue with the school, but they threatened me cut off my benefits If I refuse their recommendation.

From the above accounts, I have reached the consensus that these Muslim women suffer from an overall low employment esteem. A lack of language fluency intersects with other barriers and further stimulates a considerable discrimination in Finnish labour market. In the recruitment process, an organization's language competency requirements often favor those who are privileged and endorse the notion of superiority and inferiority amongst different groups (Vaara, Tienari, Piekkari, Santti, 2005).

## 4.5 THE SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

To sum up the discussion thus far, and before going into conclusions, it is important to point out the general themes that have been identified as part of the analysis. The first theme that emerged was about the experiences of discrimination in the workplace based on the choice of wearing headscarf and pointed as the key reason of exclusion from the Finnish labour market. Participants reflected about experiences of difficulties in hiring, discrimination and isolation. Muslim women's bodies have been central in policy reforms in many European countries. For instance, prohibition of wearing hijabs or niqabs in public places and offices such as schools and workplaces in France

and Belgium. The prevalent argument is that "we want women to be full and equal members of society" (Payton, 2011, para. 5). In Finnish society, though such legislations have not yet been implied but negative behavioral trends have been constantly been experienced by its female Muslim population as indicated by the participants. My research displays that Muslim women who wear head scarves are constantly ridiculed because of their religious choices; they are frequently told to integrate to Finnish norms and perceived as victims of oppression and being passive, unskilled as well as uneducated. Paradoxically, these highly negative concepts further marginalize their chances of inclusion in the Finnish labour market. Resultantly they become more vulnerable and distant from the workplaces. Particularly, in this study, Muslim women located their segregation and vulnerability largely in workplaces. Participants uttered that their appearances are continuously judged, incite harassment, and due to their hijab, cause explicitly recognizable discomfort and provoke some of the women to dress differently or mostly to quit from their jobs.

Furthermore, Islamophobic slurs are commonly experienced by all participants in Finland. The visible marker of dress code of Muslim women makes it easy to identify but not men, thus they become an easy target to racist slurs, violence, discrimination and Islamophobic rhetoric (Karimi, 2018; Miaari, Khattab & Johnston, 2018). The most common places to experience Islamophobia are public areas and workplaces: "It is on the streets and in public places that the majority of the women experience negative treatment. And some of the women in the survey testify that they have been called 'terrorist' and other offensive expressions." (Englund, 2006, p. 69).

Similar findings were shared by Open Society Foundation (2018) that the experiences of discrimination are part of Muslim women every day's life in Finland and the violence and humiliation directed at them are very much associated to their hijab. The violations can range from consistently and insistently asking Muslim women to remove their hijab, to shoving them and threatening them by showing weapons (See Open Society Foundations Report, 2018). Therefore, my study illustrates the dilemma of Muslim women who face multiple intersectional and complex barriers while entering the Finnish labour market particularly based on their religious identity i.e., hijab. Wearing hijab or a visible identity marker of Islam evidently makes it harder to find a job and tends to force involuntary inactivity and exclusion from Finnish labour market.

The second theme occurred is that Muslim women lack agency and are perceived as oppressed by their menfolk. The participants explained that they have to extensively explain about their position in their households and defend their own choice of wearing hijab in social circles, yet they feel that they are always unable to convince them. Such stereotypes are so deep-rooted and cemented in Western ideology that it has almost become unbreakable. Lister et al. (2007) suggest that two main stereotypes are prevalent about Muslim women. Firstly, they are the victim of oppression, oppressed by religion, violated by abusive treatment received from men, unable to protect themselves from male dominance. Secondly, Muslim women portray fundamentalist ideas and endorse these fundamentalist values in civilized, Western societies. In other words, a Muslim woman needs salvaging from Islam and simultaneously Muslim women are fundamentalists from whom others must salvage (Mullally, 2011).

Attempting to understand the agency of Muslim women through Western liberal movements is naïve in many ways as it is restricted, widely stereotyped and overwhelmingly contradicted by Muslim women themselves. It puts Muslim women in a submissive position whereas the agency model does not comply with such traditional constructed expectations. Muslim women practice agency through their religiosity in a number of dissimilar ways. As Ghanem (2017, p. 317) expresses, "agency, however, should be understood as the capacity to negotiate choices within the structure of power in which one is living". Are these women with agency or are they oppressed by unequal structures with no room for resistance? The answers to these questions can only be contemplated once our understanding of the Muslim women's definition of agency is widened and not simply imposed on them.

The third theme that appeared was the involvement of media in portraying Islam and Muslims as a threat to national security and Finnish culture. The Muslim women involved in this study discussed how the reporting of terrorism and oppression in the media affects their day-to-day life. It is important to note that in the aftermath of 9/11, and the horrific attacks in Paris, Brussels, Berlin and Nice where scores of innocent people lost their lives, Islamophobia has increased and Muslims liberties have been significantly eroded (Zunes, 2017). On the same time, the same Islamic terrorist groups attacks in Pakistan, Iraq, Afghanistan and Nigeria, which have occurred during the same timeframe and caused even higher death tolls, have received disproportionately less media attention

and sympathy (Ahmed & Matthes, 2016). The participants indicated towards the biased attitude that media always plays. The media become a source to invoke more fear and false perceptions and somehow allow hate mongering and racist slurs that are often practiced by employers, fellow employees, and customers particularly in the aftermath of any terror attack that happens in the West. Muslim women are often put under pressure when any terrorist activity occurs and have to persistently prove them as being innocent to their fellow workers and not supportive of any radical/extremist ideology. Hostility against Muslim women by managers and customers rationalizes social inequalities and results into exclusion from Finnish labour market.

The decision of exclusion from the inclusive participation in social and economic organizations, in response to the way the media interprets Islam, affirms the orientalist approach by Edward Said (1978) i.e., representation of the world in two groups: 'Us and Them'— the media contributes significantly to prevailing structural discrimination. 'West' represents modernity, freedom and equality, whereas 'Muslim' symbolizes tradition, oppression and patriarchy (Said, 1978). Many researchers have agreed that stereotyping and associating Islam and Muslim culture with negativity is very apparent in media discourses. Muslims in general are often associated with terrorism and violence (Ahmed, 2016; Baker, 2014; Jahedi, Abdullah & Mukundan, 2015; Eisenlohr, 2012).

The fourth theme that emerged was that Muslim women are perceived as carrier of low human capital. My data indicates the presence of segmented labour which is applied on culturally and religiously visible migrants such as Muslim women, who are often placed in low-skilled jobs irrespective of their human capital i.e., their formal education or qualifications, competencies and experience. Similarly, Valtonen (2001) and Järvinen et al. (2018) has reported the similar results that people from foreign background are frequently experience segmented labour market in Finland. The participants uttered their exasperation about being rejected multiple times at the entry-level, either they were never called for an interview or never being called after the interview.

There is an ongoing debate amongst scholars about the negative outcomes of migrants, specifically people from presumed deficient human capital cultures, and whether such adverse outcomes are the result of structural discrimination of the market forces (Haque, 2008). Some scholars argue that the high unemployment, underemployment and lower market niche in the labour market among

minorities is a consequence of institutional and systematic discrimination (Rydgren, 2004; Shih, 2002). This argument refers to recruitment practices that give room to the discrimination of minority groups with regard to factors such as their culture and visibility markers, qualification assessment processes, as well as language requirements (Rydgren, 2004; Shih, 2002).

The fifth theme that emerged is the notion of aggressive steering of career by employment offices and affirm the existence of structural discrimination. Muslim women have expressed that they are directed towards lowest jobs or under-qualified careers by governmental policies that govern migrants to the regions and jobs where labour scarcities have been identified. These low-skilled jobs that are being offered, such as cleaning jobs, are overwhelmingly denied by locals (European Anti-Poverty Network, 2017; Mutuku, 2017). Almost all the participants shared their experience of aggressive steering by employment offices. Employment organizations activate tighter eligibility standards like 'conditionality' i.e., benefits in exchange of work being offered and 'sanctions' i.e., reduction or cancellation of benefits for longer period of time as a consequence of disagreement or refusal (European Anti-Poverty Network, 2017).

The aspect which intensifies this marginalization is that these Muslim women do not find themselves in a position to choose, due to which they often accept any jobs that are being offered, thus remaining in professions that are of a lower standard than what they are qualified for and not fulfilling their labour market potential. As a result, it is probable that their skills will degenerate and the chance of them reaching their desired profession for which they are qualified, declines. Thus, long term deviance from one's professional spectrum can cause wastage of skills and capabilities which have taken a long time to develop. As Colic-Peisker & Tilbury (2006) explains, the probability of regaining relevant occupation and social statuses becomes remote after remaining in low and underqualified jobs for five or more years. Hence lack of work opportunities and aggressive steering towards certain occupations in working life were recognized as significant barriers by all participants.

Language proficiency as a barrier was quoted by all participants as the second biggest factor after hijab from getting involved in Finnish labour market. The state of unemployment depends not only on the prospects of their education and skills in the field but also on their ability to communicate in the language of the host country, such as Finland. Acquiring the Finnish language is necessary for integrating into society, both socially and economically. According to Colic-Peisker &Tilbury (2007) migrants need language skills to build human capital, which is needed for employment. Language is an important factor needed to integrate in to the labour market, yet there is a lack of focus on work language training. It has been suggested that work training for forming language skills is hard to attain (Colic-Peisker &Tilbury, 2007). Moreover, participants also recognized that the language trainings are highly segregated for Muslim women in Finland. They are denied enrolling in the language course which are related to their qualifications and aggressively placed in courses which are not only extremely lower than their educational and professional attainments but also completely irrelevant to their qualifications. Additionally, it is highly difficult to attain language internship in the places where these women find their professional relevance. They are not only denied but also discouraged to accelerate in their desired professions and pressurized aggressively to join under skilled work practices.

Linguistic abilities of migrants have a great effect on acquiring employment in the Finnish labour market. Given the great importance of language proficiency, inclusive labour market participation becomes limited amongst Muslim women. Muslim women in general suffer from an overall low employment and high inactivity rate, and lack of language fluency intersects with other barriers and further stimulates a considerable negative impact on employment and integration. An organization's language competency requirements determine who is successful in the recruitment process and endorses the notion of superiority and inferiority amongst the different groups. (Vaara, Tienari, Piekkari & Santti, 2005).

Another notable theme emerged is the organizational obstacles that hamper inclusive workforce is the lack of acceptance of diversity at workplaces. The participants felt they are discouraged at the earlier stages and under-went substantial scrutiny in accessing the labour market. Similar findings have been confirmed by previous hypotheses (Lindermann & Stolz, 2018; Karimi, 2018; Khattab & Modood, 2015; Syed & Ozbligin, 2015; Tariq & Syed, 2018). Workplace diversity refers to the variety of different identities between the people in an organization such as gender, colour, race, religion, sexuality etc. Muslim women are perceived as an identity based on their cultural and religious background (Lindermann & Stolz, 2018) and thus face exclusion in organizational

settings. OECD (2018) has recognized the existence of discriminatory practices in organizational settings in Finnish labour market. In order to respond to the fastest growing need of workers and fulfilling the international human rights standards OECD (2018) has encouraged Finland to be inclusive of foreign-born populations, especially women, who are evidently struggling with lower employability in the Finnish employment system.

The matter of trustworthiness was also mentioned by participants. Participant described that customers or clients often perceived them less competent compared to their Finnish colleagues. Skin colour and clothing both marked as identifiers of the worker's foreign background. The general perception about others are quite inauspicious and people from a foreign background are often perceived to be uneducated, uncivilized and incompetent. Muslim women, on the other hand, are doubly penalized because they are not only religiously and culturally oppressed but also perceived professionally incompetent to provide services.

The dilemma of under-reporting was also highlighted during this research. Almost all respondents talked about the occurrences of discrimination during scrutinization processes and acquiring jobs yet none of them ever reported these incidents anywhere. When asked why they decided not to report the ill-treatment and discrimination, some of them responded that they do not think that it would make a difference whether they report it or not, some mentioned their mistrust towards authorities and most expressed that they do not have sufficient knowledge of the laws against discrimination and were unaware of the existence of institutions that can be contacted for assistance. In addition to this, participants also feared to face repercussions by their employers in case of complaint which can cause greater consequences for them, from more hostile atmosphere to loss of their jobs that they are very much in need of.

## 5. CONCLUSION

The data in this study indicate the complex nature of intersectional experiences of Muslim women in labour market. There is evidence of myriad of challenges experienced by this particular cohort because of the interweave of gender, ethnicity, religion and religious expressions (Lindermann & Stolz, 2018; Karimi, 2018; Khattab & Modood, 2015; Syed & Ozbligin, 2015; Tariq & Syed, 2018; Saarinen & Jäppinen, 2014). In western world, where Islamophobia is alarmingly growing and where the research conducted on Muslim women at work is scarce, my research makes an important contribution in understanding the key factors faced by Muslim women by encompassing the social stereotypes and discrimination that contribute towards their exclusion from Finnish labour market. This study has been conducted in Finland with the group of Pakistani, Bangladeshi and Bahraini women involved in formal labour market. Hence, this study is not meant to generalize and represent all Muslim women in Finland. However, on the basis of the accounts of interviewed Muslim women, my study concludes that experiences of discrimination during employment poses a great challenge for Muslim women in inclusion in Finnish labour market.

Although many reforms have been implicated and non-discrimination policies have been enacted to equalize the labour market outcomes (ILO, 2014). Yet, religious minorities, particularly identifiable Muslim women, likely to be a prime target of discrimination in Finland (Saarinen & Jäppinen, 2014; Habti & Korhonen, 2014; Sakaranaho, 2008). It is daunting that prerequisites about clothing choices in some divisions of the employment sector and the Islamophobic atmosphere in public and professional spheres have led to exclusion and pushed some to give up their ambitions to work towards dignified standards of sustenance.

The participants of this study expressed that misconceptions about Muslim women, particularly those who wear hijab frequently being conceptualized as passive and oppressed at the hands of religion and Muslim men. The notion of oppression and the idea that they are subjugated in their communities further marginalizes them and prohibits them from participating productively in labour market. They are mocked for their religious expressions and pressured to adapt to so-called Finnish norms. As a result, they become clear and easy targets of hate crimes in workplaces and felt humiliated for their choices. These Muslim women see themselves as being inessential and low

priority within Finnish society. They find it insignificant to raise their voice against the hate directed at them as they do not believe that any reporting will bring justice to them.

My study also affirms that there exists the new form of colonial behavior in current times, which is similar to the behavior of Western colonizers of the nineteenth century, who view themselves as a provider of justice to help 'backwards' Muslim women by bringing them out from their garments and abandoning their religious and cultural practices (Said, 1978). Paradoxically, Saarinen & Jäppinen (2014) also note that the dominant narrative about the hijab is the extent of its imposition on women to wear it, yet little consideration is given to how the ridiculing of their choice and pressure to remove the hijab runs against the fundamentals of free choice that is purportedly entrenched in Finnish society. The Finnish women, unlike their Eastern counterparts, are considered to be modern, independent and in-charge of their own lives (Sakaranaho, 2008). Therefore, it is inevitable that hijab or other forms of veil are perceived as being contrary to the modernization and liberalization of women and against the fundamental values of dignity and equality (Sheen, Yekani & Jordan 2018).

Furthermore, this study emphatically points towards the significant correlation between the inactive economic activity of Muslim women and organizational attitudes towards diversity which need to be effectively refined in order to obtain more equal and inclusive labour market (Kabeer, 2012). For instance, the dominance of mono-culturalism and lack of racial diversity in organizational structures allows low-level inclusion of Muslim women (Syed & Pio, 2009). Specifically, to be mindful of overall spectrum of an inclusive society and the labour market is that women regardless of their gender, religion, race and other intersecting factors, should be included in order to experience equality and shape their own lives (EAPN, 2017).

Future research is needed to explore more thoroughly the wider groups of women, considering, for instance, Muslim women of African origin. It would be worth investigating the sectors of employment, where women in general are scarce, for instance, how Muslim women participate in the science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) sector. Muslim women are enormously outnumbered in leadership positions and this is the area which is highly underresearched. Therefore, it is also recommended to study the barrier and biases which cause

underrepresentation of Muslim women in leadership roles. Further studies can also be conducted on the impact of political systems and immigration policies on the inclusion of Muslim women in Finnish labour market. Moreover, how these policies and systems navigate the relations between employees and employer. Furthermore, it is also worth investigating the impact of Islam and its traditions in personal spheres of Muslim women and how Islam affects their motivations and contributes in the in Finnish labour market.

Overall, the exclusion of Muslim women from mainstream society by means of gender, religion and culture reinforces racial inequalities. When Muslims are being expulsed from public spheres and employment opportunities, their abilities and capabilities to integrate into mainstream society are simultaneously hampered. Moreover, precarious positions in social and economic spheres also compromise their probability of progressing. Therefore, rather than focusing on Muslim women's bodies and their attire in order to liberalize and liberate them, it is more important to underline the racialization of gender identities, eradicate Islamophobia, and diminish other social hindrances which hamper the social and economic inclusion of Muslim women in contemporary Finnish society.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Abdullahi, M. (2016). Forgotten Women: The impact of Islamophobia on Muslim women in Sweden. Brussels: *European Network Against Racism (ENAR)*. Retrieved from https://www.myndighetensst.se/download/18.1f4f2f6115680af2ce1a1303/1471273071822/forgotten\_women\_report\_sweden\_-\_final-2.pdf
- Abrams, D. H., Hogg, M. A., & Marques, J. M. (Eds.). (2004). *The Social Psychology of Inclusion and Exclusion*. NewYork, US: Psychology Press.
- Abu-Ras, W. M., & Suarez, Z. E. (2009). Muslim Men and Women's Perception of Discrimination, Hate Crimes, and PTSD Symptoms Post 9/11. *Traumatology: An International Journal*, 15(3), 48-63. Retrieved from http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uef.fi
- Adida, C. L., Laitin, D. D., & Valfort, M. A. (2010). Identifying barriers to Muslim integration in France. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107*(52), 384-390. Retrieved from https://halshs.archives-ouvertes.fr/halshs-00618060/document
- Ahmed, S., & Mathes, J. (2016). Media representation of Muslims and Islam from 2000 to 2015: A Metaanalysis. *International Communication Gazette*, 220-239. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1748048516656305
- Allen, M. (Ed.). (2017). Debriefing of Participants. *The Sage Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods, 1-4*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Andriessen, I., Nievers, E., Dagevos, J., & Faulk, L. (2016). Ethnic Discrimination in the Dutch Labour Market: Its Relationship With Job Characteristics and Multiple Group Membership. *Journal of Work and Occupations*, 39(3), 237-269. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/0730888412 444783
- Aslan, E., Ebrahim, R., & Hermansen, M. (Eds.). (2016). *Islam, Religions, and Pluralism in Europe*. Switzerland: Springer.
- Baker, P., Gabrielatos, C., & McEnery, T. (2014). *Discourse Analysis and Media Attitudes: The Representation of Islam in the British Press.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511920103
- Balicki, J. K., & Wells, A. (2011). Attitudes Towards Muslims and Hindus in England. Are British People Afraid of Muslims?. *Studia Gdanskie*, 219-233. Retrieved from http://cejsh.icm.edu.pl/cejsh/element/bwmeta1.element.desklight-2b7f12e5-bfb4-4b69-b4cf-e75282e6ea2a/c/219-234.pdf
- Becker, G. S. (1994). Human Capital: *A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis with Special Reference to Education*. London & Chicago: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Behloul, S. M., Leuenberger, S., Tunger-Zaneetti, A., & Andreas (Eds.). (2013). *Debating Islam: Negotiating Religion, Europe, and the Self.* Deutsche Nationalbibliografie.
- Bell, J., & Waters, S. (2014). *Doing your Research Project: A Guide for First-Time Researchers in Education, Health and Social Science*. Berkshire: Open University Press.
- Bhabha, H. K. (1994). The Location of Culture. London and New York, NY: Routledge.

- Biggerstaff, D. (2012). *Qualitative Research Methods in Psychology*. Psychology. InTechOpen.
- Boström, M. (2012). A Missing Pillar? Challenges in Theorizing and Practicing Social Sustainability: Introduction to the Special Issue. *Journal of Sustainability: Science, Practice, & Policy, 8*(1), 3-14. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/15487733.2012.11908080
- Bouma, G., Haidar, A., Nyland, C., & Smith, W. (2003). Work, Religious Diversity and Islam. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, 41(1), 51-61. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/10384 11103041001022
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The forms of capital. NewYork. In Richardson, J. (Ed.), *Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education* (pp. 241-258). Westport, CT: Greenwood. Retrieved from http://home.iitk.ac.in/~amman/soc748/bourdieu forms of capital.pdf
- Brah, A. (1993). 'Race' and 'Culture' in the Gendering of Labour Markets: Young South Asian Muslim women and the British labour market. *Journal of New Community*, 19(3), 441-458. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.1993.9976376
- Brunsden, J., Robinson, D., & McClean, P. (2017, March 14). ECJ rules employers can ban staff from wearing Islamic headscarf. *Financial Times*. Retrieved from https://www.ft.com/content/c27c99b2-089c-11e7-ac5a-903b21361b43
- Bullard, R. D., Johnson, G. S., & Torres, A. O. (Eds.). (2005). *The Quest for Environmental Justice: Addressing Global Poverty, Pollution, and Human Rights.* San Francisco: Sierra Club Books.
- Bunglawala, Z. (2008). Valuing Family, Valuing Work: British Muslim Women and the Labour Market. *The Young Foundation*, 42-46. Retrieved from https://youngfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/ Valuing-Family-Valuing-Work-British-Muslim-Women-and-the-Labour-Market-October-2008.pdf
- Cainkar, L. (2005). Violence Unveiled. *Contexts*, 4(4), 67. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1525/ctx. 2005.4.4.67
- Catalyst (2018, August). *Quick Take: Why Diversity and Inclusion Matter: Research Report*. Retrieved from https://www.catalyst.org/research/why-diversity-and-inclusion-matter/
- Catney, G., & Sabatar, A. (2015). Ethnic Minority Disadvantage In The Labour Market Participation, Skills And Geographical Inequalities: Research Report. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Retrieved from https://livrepo.sitory.liverpool.ac.uk/2014190/1/ethnic-minority-disadvantage-full.pdf
- Chavez, C. (2008). Conceptualizing from the Inside: Advantages, Complications, and Demands on Insider Positionality. *The Qualitative Report, 13*(3), 474-494. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol13/iss3/9/
- Cheung, S. Y. (2013). Ethno-religious Minorities and Labour Market Integration: Generational Advancement or Decline?. *Journal of Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 1-21. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2013.808757
- Colic-Peisker, V., & Tilbury, F. (2006). Employment Niches for Recent Refugees: Segmented Labour Market in Twenty-first Century Australia. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 19(2). Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/1b51/38f7b8c0f08d0041ae88db54741f898 99aa1.pdf

- Colic-Peisker, V., & Tilbury, F (2007). Refugees and Employment: The Effect of Visible Difference on Discrimination: Research Report. Centre for Social and Community Research, Murdoch University. Retrieved from http://library.bsl.org.au/jspui/bitstream/1/811/1/Refugees%20and%20 employment.pdf
- Collis, J., & Hussey, R. (2014). Business Research: A Practical Guide for Undergraduate and Postgraduate Students. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Connor, P., & Koenig, M. (2013). Bridges and Barriers: Religion and Immigrant Occupational Attainment across Integration Contexts. *International Migration Review*, 47(1), 3-83. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/imre.12012
- Connor, P., & Koenig, M. (2015). Explaining the Muslim Employment Gap in Western Europe: Individual-level Effects and Ethno-religious Penalties. *Journal of Social Science Research*, 49, 191-201. Retrieved from https://paa2014.princeton.edu/papers/140263
- Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU). Press Release no. 30/17. (2017, March 17). Retrieved from https://curia. europa.eu/jcms/upload/docs/application/pdf/2017-03/cp170030en.pdf
- Cox, T., & Blake, S. (1991). Managing Cultural Diversity: Implications for Organizational Competitiveness. *The Executive*, *5*(3), 45-56. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/4165021
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Anti-discrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Anti-racist Politics. *The University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 140, 139-167. Retrieved from http://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/uclf/vol1989/iss1/8
- Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Colour. *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6), 1241-1299. Retrieved from https://www.racialequitytools.org/resourcefiles/mapping-margins.pdf
- Crenshaw, K. W. (2000, November 21-24). Gender-Related Aspects of Race Discrimination. Background Paper for the Expert Meeting on Gender and Racial Discrimination. *Revista Estudos Feministas*, 10(1), 171-188. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0104-026X2002000100011
- Cuthill, M. (2010). Strengthening the 'Social' in Sustainable Sevelopment: Developing a Conceptual Framework for Social Sustainability in a Rapid Urban Growth Region in Australia. *Journal of Sustainable Development, 18*(6), 362-373. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.397
- Daher, O., Hannikainen, L., & Heikinheimo-Pérez, K. (Eds.). (2016). *National Minorities in Finland: Richness of Cultures and Languages*. Riga, Latvia: Minority Rights Group Finland.
- Dahinden, J., & Zittoun, T. (2013). Religion in Meaning, Making and Boundary Work: Theoretical Explorations. *Journal of Integrative Psychological and Behavioral Science*, 47(2), 185-206. Retrieved from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/20663358.pdf
- Dale, A., & Ahmed, S. (2011). Marriage and employment Patterns amongst UK-raised Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi Women. *Journal of Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *34*(6), 902–924. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2011.564058
- Dale, A., Fieldhouse, E., Shaheen, N., & Kalra, V. (2002). The Labour Market Prospects for Pakistani and Bangladeshi Women. *Journal of Work, Employment & Society, 16*(1), 5-25. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/09500170222119227

- De Feo, A. (2018). Women in Niqab in France. Socio. *Dossier / Chantiers*, 141-164. Retrieved from https://journals.openedition.org/socio/3519#quotation
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). Introduction: The Discipline and Practice of Qualitative Research. In Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research* (pp. 1-32). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. Retrieved from https://www.sagepub.com/sites/default/files/upm-binaries/40425 Chapter1.pdf
- Dillard. J, Dujon, V., & King, M. C. (Eds.). (2009). *Understanding the Social Dimension of Sustainability*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Disch, L., & Hawkesworth, M. (2015). Introduction. Feminist Theory: Transforming the Known World. In Disch, L., & Hawkesworth, M. (Eds.), *the Oxford Handbook of Feminist Theory*. Newyork, NY: Oxford University Press. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199328581.
- Dominelli, L., & Campling, J. (2002). *Anti-Oppressive Social Work Theory and Practice*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Droogsma, R. A. (2007). Redefining Hijab: American Muslim Women's Standpoints on Veiling. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 35(3), 294-319. http://doi.org/10.1080/00909880701434299
- Dugarova, E. (2014). Social Inclusion and the Post-2015 Sustainable Development Agenda (pp. 1-12). United Nations Research Institute for Social Inclusion. Retrieved from http://www.unrisd.org/unitar-social-inclusion
- Dujon, V., Dillard, J., & Brennan, E. M. (Eds.). (2013). *Social Sustainability: A Multilevel Approach to Social Inclusion*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Eisenlohr, P. (2012). Media and Religious Diversity. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 41, 37-55. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-anthro-092611-145823.
- Elahi, F., & Khan, O. (Eds.). (2017). *Islamophobia: A Challenge for Us All. London (Research Report)*. The Runnymede Trust. retrieved from https://www.runnymedetrust.org/uploads/Islamophobia %20Report%202018 %20FINAL.pdf
- Englund, H. (2018). The Front Line of Free Speech: Beyond Parrhêsia in Finland's Migrant Debate. *Journal of American Ethnologist*, 45(1), 100-111. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/amet. 12602
- Enno, A. M. (2012). *The Intersection Of Multiple Oppressed Identities: Implications For Identity Development*. (Master's Thesis, Utah State University, Logan). Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2227&context=etd
- Entwistle, M. (2004). *Women Only? An Exploration of The Place of Men Within Nursing*. Victoria University of Wellington. Retrieved from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/41335466.pdf
- European Anti-Poverty Network (EAPN). (2017). *Inclusive Labour Markets: Building Pathway Approaches to Quality Employment*. Retrieved from https://www.eapn.eu/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/EAPN-2017-EAPN-Position-Inclusive-Labour-Markets-1006.pdf
- European Commission. (2008). *Employment, Social Affairs & Inclusion*. retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1059&langId=en

- European Institute of Gender Equality (EIGE) (n.d.). *Gender Perspective*. Retrieved from http://eige.europa.eu/rdc/thesaurus/terms/1197
- Fenech, B. (2006). Book Review: Fragmenting Work: Blurring Organisational Boundaries and Disordering Hierarchies. Melbourne, United Kingdom: Taylor & Francis Ltd.
- Fligstein, N. (2001). Organizations: Theoretical Debates and the Scope of Organizational Theory. *Handbook of Sociology*, 1-35. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download;j sessionid=2B0F3107E6B6A59464369E2DCD435024?doi=10.1.1.695.9013&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Foucault, M. (1998). *The History of Sexuality: The Will to Knowledge*. London, United Kingdom: Penguin.
- Freedman, D. A. (2009). On Types of Scientific Inquiry: The Role of Qualitative Reasoning. In Box-Steffensmeier, J. M., Brady, H. E., & Collier, D (Eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Political Methodology* (pp. 1-17). Retrieved from https://www.stat.berkeley.edu/~census/anomaly.pdf
- Gangl, M. (2006). Scar Effects of Unemployment: An Assessment of Institutional Complementarities. American Sociological Review, 71(6), 986-1013. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/00031 2240607100606
- Ghaffar, S., & Lama, S.M. (2014). *Life Experiences of Afghan Women in Finland: A study of everyday life experiences of Afghan women living in Helsinki Region*. (Bachelor's Thesis, Diaconia University of Applied Sciences, Helsinki. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/bb54/7a1cccbbde 90a5b95bd5a2172aeba27e3a33.pdf
- Ghanem, C.Y. (2017). Providing a Gender Perspective to Integration in Western Europe. Muslim Women's Agency between Multicultural and Assimilationist Policies. *Journal of Peace Human Rights Governance*, 1(3), 307-326. Retrieved from https://phrg.padovauniversitypress.it/system/files/papers/2017 3 1.pdf
- Gill, J., & Johnson, P. (2002). Research Methods for Managers. *Journal of Business and Management Sciences*, 2(6), 123-147. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.12691/jbms-2-6-1
- Gilliat-Ray, S. (2010). Muslims in Britain: An Introduction. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Glassner, B., & Loughlin, J. (1987). *Drugs In Adolscent Worlds Burnouts to Straights*. Hampshire: Macmillan Press.
- Golesorkhi, L. Z. (2017). Unveiling Structural Challenges: The Headscarf and Employment Integration in Germany. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, *37*(2), 64-182. Retrievded from https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2017.1345101
- Gottschalk, P. G. (2008). *Islamophobia: Making Muslims the Enemy*. NewYrok: Rowman & Littlefeld Publications.
- Greve, B. (2007). What Characterise the Nordic Welfare State Model. *Journal of Social Sciences*, *3*(2), 43-51. Retrieved from https://thescipub.com/pdf/10.3844/jssp.2007.43.51
- Harvey, C. (Ed.). (2005). *Human Rights in the Community: Rights as Agents for Change*. The British Institute of Human Rights. Oxford & Portland, Oregon: Hart.

- Haque, R., & Haque, M. O. (Eds.). (2008). *Gender, Ethnicity and Employment: Non-english Speaking Background Migrant Women in Australia*. Burwood, Australia: Springer.
- Heath, A., & Cheung, S. Y. (2006). *Ethnic Penalties in the Labour Market: Employers and Discrimination. Department for Work and Pensions*. Leeds, United Kingdom: Crown.
- Heath, A. F., Rothon, C., & Kilpi, E. (2008). The Second Generation in Western Europe: Education, Unemployment, and Occupational Attainment. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 34, 211-235. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.34.040507.134728
- Heath, A., & Martin. J. (2012). Can Religious Affiliation Explain 'Ethnic' Inequalities in the Labout Market?. *Journal of Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 36, 1005-1027. Retrived from http://doi.org/10.1080/0141987.2012.657660
- Helbling, M. (2008). *Islamophobia in Switzerland: A New Phenomenon or a New Name for Xenophobia?* Paper presented at annual conference of the Midwest Political Science Association (MPSA).
- History. (2009, November 9). *Rosa Parks*. Retrieved from: https://www.history.com/topics/black-history/rosa-parks
- Ho, C., & Alcorso, C. (2004). Migrants and Employment: Challenging the Success Story. *Journal of Sociology*, 237-259. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1177/1440783304045721.
- Holvino, E. (2010). Intersections: The Simultaneity of Race, Gender and Class in Organization Studies. *Gender, Work and Organization, 17*(3), 248-277. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0432.2008.00400.x
- Hopkins, P., & Richard, G. (2009). *Muslims in Britain: Race, Place and Identities: Race, Place and Identities*. Edinbrugh: Edinbrugh University Press.
- Hopkins, P. (2016). Gendered Islamophobia, Racism and White Supermacy: Genedered Violence against those who look Muslim. *Dialogues in Human Geography*, *6*(2), 186-189. Retrievd from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2043820616655018
- Women and Equalities Committee. (2016-17). *Employment Oppurtunities for Muslims in the UK(Research Report)*. House of Commons. Retrieved from https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmwomeq/89/89.pdf
- Howard, E. (2017). European Network of Legal Experts in Gender Equality and Non-discrimination. European Commission. Retrieved frrom https://ec.europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/gender-equality/who-we-work-gender-equality/network-legal-experts-gender-equality-and-non-discrimination\_en
- Human Rights Committee, General Comment 18, Non-discrimination (Thirty-seventh session, 1989), Compilation of General Comments and General Recommendations Adopted by Human Rights Treaty Bodies, U.N. Doc. HRI/GEN/1/Rev.1 at 26 (1994).
- Hyökki, L., & Kreutz, K. (2017). Islamophobia in Finland (Research Report). In Bayrakli, E., & Farid, H. (Eds.). European Islamophobia Report. SETA Foundation for Political, Economic and Social Research.

- International labour Organization. (2016). *Women at Work: Trends*. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/--- publ/documents/publication/wcms\_457 317.pdf
- International Religious Freedom Report, Finland. (2018). Retrieved from https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/finland-2018-international-religious-freedom-report.pdf
- Jabbour, C. J. C., Gordono, F. S., Caldeira de Oliveira, J. H., Martinez, J. C., & Battistelle, R. A. G. (2011). Diversity Management: Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. *An International Journal*, 30(1), 58-74. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1108/02610151111110072
- Jahedi, M., Abdullah, F. S., & Mukundan, J. (2015). Review of Studies on Media Portrayal of Islam, Muslims and Iran. *International Journal of Education and Research*, 297-304. Retrieved from https://www.ijern.com/journal/2014/December-2014/26.pdf
- Järvinen, A., Pajunen, T., Saarinen, E., & Sironen, J. (2018). *Poverty Watch Report Finland*. European Anti-Poverty Network Finland (EAPN-Fin). Retrieved from http://www.eapn.fi/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Poverty Watch Finland 2018.pdf
- Jeremy Northcote, P. H. (2006). Breaking the Isolation Cycle: The Experience of Muslim Refugee Women in Australia. *Asian and Pacific Migration Journal*, 15(2), 177-199. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/011719680601500201
- Joro, T. (2019). Turvapaikanhakijoiden Osaaminen Yhteiskunnallisena Voimavarana. Selvitys Suomen Punaisen Ristin Vastaanottokeskuksissa Vuosina 2016-2018 Tehdyistä Turvapaikanhakijoiden Osaamiskartoituksista. Suomen Punainen Risti & Accenture & ALL-YOUTH-Tutkimushanke.http://www.allyouthstn.fi/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Loppuraportti-2019-UEF-Osaamiskartoitukset.pdf.
- Kabeer, N. (2012). Women's Economic Empowerment and Inclusive Growth: Labour Markets and Enterprise Development. School of Oriental and African Studies, 4-18. Retrieved from https://www.idrc.ca/sites/default/files/sp/Documents%20EN/NK-WEE-Concept-Paper.pdf
- Kalra, V. S. (2008-2016). Interrogating Segregation, Integration and the Community Cohesion Agenda. Cathie Marsh Center for Census and Survey Researh. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/13691830903125893
- Kamenou, N., & Fearfull, A. (2006). Ethnic Minority Women: A Lost Voice in HRM. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 16(2), 154-172. Retrieved from 10.1111/j.1748-8583.2006.00010.x.
- Kantor, P. (2009). Women's Exclusion and Unfavorable Inclusion in Informal Employment in Lucknow, India: Barriers to Voice and Livelihood Security. *Journal of World Development, 37*(1), 194-207. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2008.05.002.
- Karimi, H. (2018). The Hijab and Work: Female Entrepreneurship in Response to Islamophobia. *International Journal of Politics, Culture, and Society, 31*(4), 421-435. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/s10767-018-9290-1
- Karlsdóttir, A., Norlén, G., Rispling, L., & Randall, L. (Eds). (2018). *Entering the Nordic Labour Market*. The State of Nordic Region: Immigration and Integration Edition. Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Kelly, B., Gilligan, E., Friel, S., Smith, D., Pinkerton, J., & McShane, T. (2017). *A Guide to Peer Research with Young People*. Belfast: Queen's University.

- Kettunen, P (2001): The Nordic Welfare State in Finland. *Scandinavian Journal of History*, 26(3), 225-247. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1080/034687501750303864.
- Khattab, N. (2009). Ethno-religious Background as a Determinant of Educational and Occupational Attainment in Britain. *Journal of Sociology*, 43(2), 304-322. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038508101167
- Khattab, N., & Hussein, S. (2018). Can Religious Affiliation Explain the Disadvantage of Muslim Women in the British Labour Market?. *Journal of Work, Employment and Society, 32*(6), 1011-1028. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017017711099
- Khattab, N., & Modood, T. (2015). Both Ethnic and Religious: Explaining Employment Penalties Across 14 Ethno-Religious Groups in the United Kingdom. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 54(3). Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12220
- Kirkup, J. (2015, February 13). British Muslims: Integration and Segregation are about Economics, not Values. United Kingdom: *The Telegraph*. Retrieved from https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/immigration/11409181/British-Muslims-integration-and-segregation-are-about-economics-not-values.html
- Klasen, S., & Lamanna, F. (2009). The Impact of Gender Inequality in Education and Employment on Economic Growth: New Evidence for a Panel of Countries. *Feminist Economics*, *15*(3), 91-132. Retrieved from http://chicagopolicyreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/Gender-and-Economic-Growth.pdf
- Komppula, S. (2018). Employment of Young Immigrants in Helsinki: Impact of Gender, Mother Tongue, and Education Level. (Master's Thesis, JAMK University of Applied Sciences, Jyväskylä, Finalnd). Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/1889/2a766173ba1feb36f29 f3c4bf28 fdf46e509.pdf
- Kontos, M. (Ed.). (2009). *Integration of Female Immigrants in Labour Market and Society: A Comparrative Analysis*. EU-Project: Integration of Female Immigrants in Labour Market and Society. Policy Assessment and Policy Recommendations (FeMiPol). Retrieved from http://www.forschungsnetzwerk.at/downloadpub/2009 FinalReportFeMiPol.pdf
- Korhonen, V., Koskela, K., & Habti, D. (Eds.). (2014). International Degree Students' Integration into the Finnish Higher Education and Labour Market. *Journal of Finnish Studies: International Highly Skilled Migration: The Case of Finland*, 17, 126.
- Kottke, J. L., & Agars, M. D. (2005). Understanding the Processes that Facilitate and Hinder Efforts to Advance Women in Organizations. *The Career Development International*, 10(3), 190-202. Retrieved from http://doi.org/ 10.1108/13620430510598319
- Krippendorff, K. (2004). *Content Analysis An Introduction to Its Methodology*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428108324513
- Kroll, C., Similä, M., Salmenhaara, P., & Blomberg, H. (2008). Integration through work in a Nordic multicultural context. In H. Blomberg, A. Forsander, C. Kroll, P. Salmenhaara, & M. Similä (Eds.), Sameness and diversity: The Nordic welfare state model and the integration of immigrants on the labour market (pp. 11-35). Helsinki: Research Institute. Swedish school of social science University of Helsinki.

- Kunst, J. R. (2013). Perceived Islamophobia: Scale Development and Validation. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 37(2), 225-237. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2012.11.001.
- Labaree, R. V. (2019). *Organizing Your Social Sciences Research Paper: Purpose of Guide*. Retrieved from https://libguides.usc.edu/writingguide
- Laitamäki, J., & Järvinen, R. (2013). The Impact of the 2008 Financial Crises on Finnish and American Households. *National Consumer Research Centre*, 41-65.
- Lamont, M., & Molnár, V. (2002). The Study of Boundaries in he Social Sciences. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 281(1), 167-195. retrieved from https://scholar.harvard.edu/lamont/files/m.lamont-v.molnar-the study of boundaries.pdf
- Lapan, S. D., Quartaroli, M. T., & Riemer, F. J. (2011). *Qualitative Research: An Introduction to Methods and Designs.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Leach, L., Butterworth, P., Strazdins, L., Rodgers, B., Broom, D., & Olesen, S. (2010). The Limitations of Employment as a Tool for Social Inclusion. *Journal of BMC Public Health*, 10, 621. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-621
- Lehtovaara, H. (2017). Expectations And Experiences: Highly educated migrant women in the Finnish labour market. *Itinerarius Reflectionis*, 13(2), 1-13. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319238716 expectations\_and\_experiences\_highly\_educated\_migrant\_women\_in\_the\_Finnish\_labour\_market
- Liamputtong, P. (2007). *Researching the Vulnerable: A Guide to Sensitive Research Methods*. London, United Kingdom: Sage Publications.
- Lindemann, A., & Stolz, J. (2018). The Muslim Employment Gap, Human Capital, and Ethno-Religious Penalties: Evidence from Switzerland. *Journal of Social Inclusion, 6*(2), 151-161. Retrieved from https://www.cogitatiopress.com/socialinclusion/article/view/1395
- Ling, C. H., Hanna, K., & Dale, A. (2009). A Template for Integrated Community Sustainability Planning. *Environmental Management, 44*(2), 228-242. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-009-9315-7
- Lister, R. (2007). Inclusive Citizenship: Realizing the Potential. *Journal of Citizenship Studies*, 11(1), 49-61. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/13621020601099856
- Littig, B., & Griesssler, E. (2005). Social sustainability: A Catchword between Political Pragmatism and Social Theory. *International Journal of Sustainable Development*, 8, 65-79. Retrieved from https://www.ihs.ac.at/pdf/soz/test2.pdf
- Loftsdóttir, K. (2018). Global Citizens, Exotic Others, and Mnwanted migrants: Mobilities in and of Europe. *Identities-Global Studies in Culture and Power*, *25*(3), 302-319. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/1070289X.2016.1233879
- Lovat, T., Nilan, P., Hosseini, S. A., Samarayi, I., Mansfield, M., & Alexander, W. (2013). Discrimination in the Labour Market: Exposing Employment Barriers among Muslim Jobseekers in Australia. *Issues in Social Science*, 1(1), 53-73. Retrieved from 10.5296/iss.v1i1.4374.

- MacNeil, S.D., & Fernandez, C.V. (2006). Informing research participants of research results: analysis of Canadian university-based research ethics board policies. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 32(1), 49-54. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1136/jme.2004.010629
- Makkonen, T. (2002). Multiple, Compound and Intersectional Discrimination: Bringing The Experiences of The Most Marginalised to The Fore. *Institute for Human Rights, Åbo Akademi, Turku, Finland*. Retrieved from https://www.abo.fi/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/2002-Makkonen-Multiple-compound-and-intersectional-discrimination.pdf
- Mangal, A. H. (2018). Second-Generation Immigrants and Factors That Create Challenges to Enter the Finnish Labour Market. (Master's Thesis, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland). Retrieved from https://jyx.jyu.fi/bitstream/handle/123456789/57356/URN:NBN:fi:jyu-201803201773.pdf
- Mannila, S., Messing, V., Van Den Broek, H., & Vidra, Z. (2010). *Immigrants and Ethnic Minorities:* European Country Cases and Debates (Research Report). Institute for Health and Welfare. Helsinki, finland: University Print.
- McKenzie, S. (2004). Social Sustainability: Towards some Definitions. *Journal of Social Science for Policy Implication*, 4(2), 23-44. Retrieved from https://www.unisa.edu.au/siteassets/episerver-6-files/documents/eass/hri/working-papers/wp27.pdf
- McKernan, B. (2017, May 3). Finnish minister says new 'grand mosque' plans could pose 'security risk'. *Independent*. Retreived from https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/finland-grand-mosque-helsinki-islam-extremism-islamophobia-tarja-mankkinen-pia-jardi-a7715761.html
- Meer, N., & Modood, T. (2011). How does Interculturalism Contrast with Multiculturalism?. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, 175-196. Retrieved from https://uef.finna.fi/PrimoRecord/pci.informaworld s10 1080 07256868 2011 618266
- Meer, N., & Modood T. (2009). The Multicultural State We're In: Muslims, 'Multiculture' and the 'Civic Re-balancing' of British Multiculturalism post. *Journal of Political Studies*, *57*, 473-497. Retrieved from https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.uef.fi:2443/doi/full/10.1111/j.1467-9248. 2008.00745.x
- Meurs, D., & Pailhe, A. (2006). The Persistence of Intergenerational Inequalities linked to Immigration: Labour Market Outcomes for Immigrants and their Descendants in France. *Population English edition*, 61, 621-643. Retrieved from https://www.cairn-int.info/article-E\_POPU\_605\_0763--the-persistence-of-intergenerational-ine.htm
- Miaari, S., Khattab, N., & Johnston, R. (2018). Religion and ethnicity at work: A Study of British Muslim Women's Labour Market Performance. *Quality & Quantity: International Journal of Methodology*, 53(1), 19-47.
- Mighty, E. J. (1997). Triple Jeopardy: Immigrant Women of Colour in the Labour Force. In Prasad, P., Mills, A. J., Prasad, A., & Elmes, M. (Eds.). *Managing the Organizational Melting Pot: Dilemmas of Workplace Diversity*. Brussel & Sydney: Sage Publications.
- Ministry of the Interior, Finland: International Migration Report 2016-2017. Retrieved from https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/SM 28 2017%20%281%29.pdf

- Mitra, A., Bang, J., & Biswas, A. (2015). Gender Equality and Economic Growth: Is it Equality of Opportunity or Equality of Outcomes?. *Journal of Feminist Economics*, 21(1), 110. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/13545701.2014.930163
- Mnguni, P. P. (2011). Book Review: Challenging Identities: Muslim Women in Australia. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 12(1), 196-199. Retrieved from http://vc.bridgew.edu/jiws/vol12/iss1/19
- Mullally, S. (2011). Civic Integration, Migrant Women and the Veil: at the Limits of Rights?. *The Modern Law Review*, 74(1), 27-56. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2230.2010.00835.x
- Mutuku, L.S. (2017). *Skill-related Underemployment of Educated Immigrants in Finland*. (Master's Thesis, Laurea University of Applied Sciences, Vantaa, Finland). Retrived from https://www.theseus.fi/ bitstream/handle/10024/125125/Thesis%20Lynn%20Mutuku.pdf
- Myrskylä, P., & Pyykkönen, P. (2014). Suomeen muuttaneiden naisten ja miesten työmarkkinatilanne, koulutus ja poliittinen osallistuminen. Tilastokeskus Statistikcentralen Statistics Finland.
- Nagra, B. (2018). Cultural Explanations of Patriarchy, Race, and Everyday Lives: Marginalizing and "Othering" Muslim Women in Canada. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 38(2), 263-279. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2018.1466488
- Newby, A., & Gavan, T. (2003). The "War on Terror" and Non-alignment. Peace Review. *A journal of Social Justice*. 15(4).
- Northcote, J., & Phillips, T. (2019). Getting up close and personal: Using peer research assistants for participant observation in a youth alcohol project. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(2), 132-145. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-D-18-00046
- Olsen, W. (2004). Modelling Gender Pay Gaps. Manchester & Leeds: Equal Opportunities Commission.
- Open Society Foundations Report, (2018, July). Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 28 EU Member States: Current Law, Recent Legal Developments, and the State of Play (Research Report). Retrieved from https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/restrictions-on-women%27s-dress-in-the-28-eu-member-states-20180425.pdf
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2018). Working Together: Skills and Labour Market Integration of Immigrants and their Childern in Finland. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2018). Setting In 2018: Indicators of Immigrant Integration. Paris & Brussels: OECD Publishing.
- Payton, L. (2011, December 12). Face veils banned for citizenship oaths. *CBC News*. Retrieved from http://www.aben gnews.com/2011/12/12/culture-clash-visible-as-canada-bars-veils-at-citizenshipswear ing/?fbclid=IwAR30nhb0oVorU4tC7KWV6zz5itSIaF43WmbS50PMrvMWTRXPyBCFoHFoqgs
- Platonova, A., & Urso, G. (2012). Labour Market Inclusion of the Less Skilled Migrants In The European Union. Independent Network of Labour Migration and Integration Experts (Research Report).

  Brussels: International Organization for Migration. Retrieved from https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/labour market inclusion in eu.pdf

- Portes, A., & Zhou, M. (1993). The New Second Generation: Segmented Assimilation and Its Variants. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 530(1), 74-96. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1047678
- Possamai, A., Richardson, J. T., & Turner, B. S. (2015). *The Sociology of Shari'A: Case Studies from Around the World*. Poverty Watch Report Finland, European Anti-Poverty Network (EAPN-Fin). Switzerland: Springer.
- Rana, J. (2007). The Story of Islamophobia. A *Critical Journal of Black Politics, Culture, and Society,* 9(2), 148-161. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1099994070138 2607
- Rodriguez, J. K., Holvino, E., Fletcher, J. K., & Nkomo, S. M. (2016). The Theory and Praxis of Intersectionality in Work and Organisations: Where Do We Go From Here?. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 23(3), 201-222. Retrieved from ttps://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12131
- Roche, B., Guta, A., Flicker, S. (2010). *Peer Research in Action 1: Models of Practice*. Toronto, Ontario: The Wellesley Institute.
- Ross, E. (2008). Employment relations. London, United Kingdom: Pearson Education Limited.
- Rydgren, J. (2004). Mechanisms of Exclusion: Ethnic Discrimination in the Swedish Labour Market. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 30(4), 697-716. Retrieved from http://jensrydgren.com/Mechanisms%20of%20exclusion.pdf
- Saarinen A., & Jäppinen M. (2014) Political and Labour Market Inclusion of Migrants in Finland. In Anthias F., Pajnik M. (Eds.) Contesting Integration, Engendering Migration. Migration, Diasporas and Citizenship Series. London, United Kingdom: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Saharso, S. (2007). Headscarves: A Comparison of Public Thought and Public Policy in Germany and the Netherlands. *Critical Review of International Social and Political Philosophy*, 10(4), 513-530. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/13698230701660204
- Said, E. W. (1978). Orientalism. London and Henley: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Sakaranaho, T. (2008). *Muslim Immigrants in Finland*. Finnish Institute of International Affairs (FIIA). Retrievd from https://www.fiia.fi/en/event/muslim-immigrants-in-finland
- Salminen-Karlsson, M., Almgren, N., Aye, M., Wolffarm, A., Apostolov, G., & Kerina, D. (2011). Excellence And Gender In The Working Environment: Results of Mapping of the Present Situation in Germany, Bulgaria and Sweden (Research Report). Female Empowerment in Science and Technology Academia (FESTA). Retrieved from http://www.festa-europa.eu/sites/festa-europa.eu/files/Excellence%20 report%2014.4.pdf
- Scarton, P. (2007). Power, Conflict and Criminalization. London & Newyork: Routledge.
- Sheen, M., Yekani, H. A. K., & Jordan, T. R. (2018). Investigating the Effect of Wearing the Hijab: Perception of Aacial attractiveness by Emirati Muslim Women Living in Nheir native Muslim Country. *Plos One*, 13(10). Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199537
- Sen, A. (1999). Development as Freedom. New York, NY: Alfred Knopf.
- Sen, A. (2009). The idea of justice. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. .

- Shih, J. (2002). 'Yeah, I could hire this one, but I know it's gonna be a problem': How Nace, nativity and Gender Affect Employers' Perceptions of the Manageability of Job Seekers. *Journal of Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 25(1), 99-119. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870120112076
- Songur, W. (2007). "Attitudes to Islam and Muslims: Interviews with Two Generations of Swedish Men" Swedish Integration Agency's Racism and Xenophobia in Sweden. Integration Board's report series.
- Sotkasiira, T. (2013). Caucasian Encounters: North Caucasian Youth and the Politics of Identification in Contemporary Russia. University of Eastern Finland.
- Statistics Finland. (2016). *Persons with Foreign Background*. Retrieved from https://www.stat.fi/ tup/maa hanmuutto/maahanmuuttajatvaestossa/ulkomaalaistaustaiset en.html
- Statistics Finland. (2001). Classification of Occupations. Retrieved from https://www.stat.fi/meta/luokitukset/ammatti/001-2001/koko luokitus en.html
- Steel, S., & Jyrkinen, M, (2017). Searching for Employment: Highly Educated Immigrant Women and Combined Capabilities. *Research on Finnish Society, 10*, 35-42. Retrieved from https://helda. helsinki.fi//bitstream/handle/10138/232726/4 RFS 2017 Steel Jyrkinen .pdf?sequence=1
- Stolz, J. (2008). The Explanation of Religiosity: Testing Sociological; Mechanisms Empirically. Université de Lausanne. *Observatoire des Religions en Suisse (ORS)*, 1-35. Retrieved from https://www.unil.ch/files/live/sites/issr/files/shared/Publications/WP\_WorkingPapers/WP\_08-2008.pdf
- Suroor, H. (2016, August 24). Islamophobia and Why Muslim Women are the Most Disadvantaged in the UK. *Arts & Culture*. Retrieved from http://www.thenational.ae/arts-culture/islamophobia-and-why-muslim-women-are-the-most-disadvantaged-in-the-uk-1.159263
- Syed, J., & Ozbilgin, M. F. (Eds.). (2015). *Managing Diversity and Inclusion: An International Perspective*. London, United kingdom: Sage Publications.
- Syed, J., & Pio, E. (2010). Veiled diversity? Workplace Experiences of Muslim Women in Australia. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 27(1), 115-137. Retrieved from http://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10490-009-9168-x
- Tan-Quigley, S. (2004). All dressed up and nowhere to go: Implementing Strategies to Address Issues Affecting Unemployment in Young People from New and Emerging Communities. North Perth: Ethnic Community Council of WA.
- Tariq, M., & Syed, J. (2018). An Intersectional Perspective on Muslim Women's Issues and Experiences in Employment. *Journal of Gender, Work & Organization, 25*(5), 1-15. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12256
- Tisserant, P., Lorraine Wagner, A., & Barth, I. (2012). The Propensity to Discriminate: A Diagnostic Indicator for Diversity Management. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, 32*(1), 36-48. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/02610151311305605
- Tokola, N., Rättilä, T., Honkatukia, P., Mubeen, F., & Mustalahti, I. (2019). Haluan Tulla Nähdyksi Huiviltani: Nurten Musliminaisten Kokemuksia Kuulumisesta Työelämässä. Nuoristutkimus. 21-35.

- Vaara, E., Tienari, J., & Pirkkari, R. (2005). Language and the Circuits of Power in a Merging Multinational Corporation. *Journal of Management Studies*, 595-623. Retrieved from https://helda.helsinki.fi/bitstream/handle/10227/763/JMASB2,?sequence=2
- Vainio-Mattila, A. (2001). *Navigating Gender: A Framework and a Tool for Participatory Development.*Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Finland, Department of International Development Cooperation Helsinki, Finland.
- Valle, R. C., & Normandeau, S. (2015). Education at a Glance Interim Report: Update of Employment and Educational Attainment Indicators. OECD-INES Network on Labour Market, Economic and Social Outcomes of Learning. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/education/EAG-Interimreport.pdf
- Valtonen, K. (2001). Cracking Monopoly: Immigrants and Employment in Finland. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*. 27(3), 421-438. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/136918301200266158
- Van Tubergen, F., Maas, I., & Flap, H. (2004). The Economic Incorporation of Immigrants in 18 Western Societies: Origin, Destination, and Community Effects. *American Sociological Review, 69*(5), 704-727. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240406900505
- Willey, B. (2000). Employment law in context, England, United Kingdom: Pearson Education limited.
- Williams, J. C. (2015). "It's Always with You, that You're Different": Undocumented Students and Social Exclusion. *Journal of Poverty, 20*(2), 1-24. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/10875549. 2015.1094766
- Women and Equalities Committee. (2016-2017). *Employment Opportunities for Muslims in the UK*. Retrieved from https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmwom eq/89/8902.htm
- World Economic Forum. (2016). *Global Challenge Initiative: Economic Growth and Social Inclusion*. Retrieved from http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_GCP\_Economic\_Growth\_and\_Social\_Inclusion\_pager.pdf
- Yle Uutiset, (2019, February 11). Migrants face considerable challenges in job seeking in Finland due to insufficient language proficiency. Retrieved from http://yle/uutiset/osasto/news/im\_broken \_depressed\_foreigners\_struggle\_to\_find\_work\_in\_finlan\_d/10641139
- Zunes, S. (2017). Europe's Refugee Crisis, Terrorism, and Islamophobia. *Peace Review, 29*(1), 1-6. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/10402659.2017.1272275
- Zwysen, W., & Longhi, S. (2016). Labour Market Disadvantage of Ethnic Minority British Graduates: University Choice, Parental Background or Neighbourhood? *Institute for Social & Economic Research*, 1-31. Retrieved from http://repository.essex.ac.uk/id/eprint/18877

## **Appendices**

## Appendix A

## **Informed Consent Form**

I have been invited to participate in a study conducted by Fath E Mubeen, master student at the University of Eastern Finland, Faculty of Educational Sciences. The purpose of this research is to study Muslim women's labour market challenges and experiences of finding employment in Finland.

I have read the foregoing information and understood the information. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about it and any questions I have been asked to have been answered to my satisfaction. I consent voluntarily to be a participant in this study and for the interview to be audio taped.

Name of Participant	
Signature of Participant	
Date	

# Appendix B

# **Background Information Form**

PERSONAL INFORMATION	
First name:	
Last name:	
Year of birth:	
Place of birth:	
Native language:	
Other language skills:	
Year when moving to Finland:	
Reason for moving to Finland:	
Education started or completed in country of origin:	
Education started or completed in Finland:	
I agree for the information stated above to be used by the researcher in her study.	
Name:	
Simple	
Signature:	

## **Appendix C**

### **INTERVIEW GUIDE**

Muslim Women Challenges in inclusion in Finland

## 1.Before moving to Finland

- -Where did you live?
- What were you doing in your country (study, job, other)?

## 2. After moving to Finland

- -Why you decided to move Finland?
- -Where did you move initially?
- How did you find Finland as a foreigner?

#### 3. Education

- -What have you studied or studying?
- -What made you choose that field of study?
- Were you working during your studies?
- -What kind of job/study are you doing?
- If the interviewee has a degree from home country: Do you need to get recognition educational qualifications?
- Do you find it difficult to get your educational qualifications recognized in Finland?

#### 4. Work

- Were you before coming in Finland?
- If yes, how long and in what field?
- Was your job related to your studies?

#### 4.1. Finding employment

- Did you face challenges entering labor market in Finland?
- Have you actively finding job openings?
- What kind of jobs/positions you usually look for?
- Do you find jobs according to your qualification?
- How long you have been unemployment?
- Do you think your previous experience helped you in finding jobs in Finland?

- What are the typical being asked from you during job interviews?
- -Please share your job seeking experience.
- Are you satisfied with your job/position?
- What do you feel makes it difficult for you to find employment?
- What are the problems and issues regarding workplace in Finland?
- How the work training helps you in finding the work? Explain.
- How did being unemployed make you feel?
- How did you feel when not being chosen for the positions you applied for?
- What is your situation before and now? If better how? explain.
- Have you ever felt giving up?

## 4.2 Hijab and Employment

- Do you wear hijab?
- Do you think your hijab is a barrier in establishing your career?
- Can you describe how a typical day at the Finnish workplace?
- Does your religion hinder your work in terms of your colleagues and boss behavior?
- Please share your experience when you felt any kind of negative behavior because you are Muslim?
- What are the typical challenges you face based on your hijab and Muslim background?
- Did you report the certain incidents based on your foreign and religious background to authorities?
- Do you think your foreign background matter finding job in Finland?
- Did you think that you have been discriminated in the labor market?
- Have you ever thought about how employers feel about hiring migrants?
- Do these challenges base on your foreign and religious background effect on your emotional and psychological state?
- What is your coping remedy?

#### 4.3. Language skills and Employment

- -Do you think it is important to learn the Finnish language?
- Do you think your language skills effects your possibility to find employment?
- Have you been studying Finnish Language?
- Have you studied Finnish language before or after when you think it is important to integrate?
- What are the opportunities you have acquired with the knowledge of Finnish language skills?
- Do you think it would be easy to find work in Finland? Without language?
- What were your expectations when you started studying Finnish language?
- Describe if these expectations have been met. If not, why?
- How has the Finnish language skill shaped your sense of identity?
- How do you want to use your Finnish language skills in future?
- How important is it in your opinion for a migrant to speak the language of the mainstream society? Give examples from your own experience.
- What kind of challenges did you face while learning the Finnish language?
- In your opinion, what are some of the challenge's migrants face in Finland?
- Do you think that learning language makes you interact socially?
- Do you think you have accomplished your aim?

- Do you think you belong to this society?
- Can one rightly say that the you are well integrated into the Finnish mainstream society?
- Can you give some examples?
- What are the suggestions to improve the situation in Finland and to make it first priority for migrant workforce?
- Do you have any other comments you would like to share concerning your experiences with the Finnish language course and your daily social interaction into the Finnish community?

## 5. Being a woman

- Do you think being a woman affects your chances of finding employment? What about being an migrant woman?
- Have you noticed being treated differently because of your gender?

## 6. Thoughts on the future

- -What are your plans for the future?
- Do you feel optimistic or pessimistic about the future?

## 7. Mentorship

- How did you get information about the work you are doing? How did you find the current job?
- Did you provide any training?
- Do you know about the institutions established to help you find jobs?
- Have you ever received career counselling?
- Did you find it useful if you received counselling? How?
- -Has anyone supported you or helped you to find employment?
- Do you have any friends that have struggled with finding employment? Have you learned anything from them?

Would you like to make any comment or talk about anything else? Any questions? Thank you!